

DPIA - Dipartimento Politecnico di Ingegneria e Architettura

Via del Cotonificio, 108. Udine, Italy.

Doctoral course in:

# "Environmental and Energy Engineering Sciences"

XXXV Cycle

Dissertation title:

"Integrated water cycle sustainability: sonozone technology for the water reuse in a circular economy perspective"

Ph.D. Student:

Eng. Alessandro Moretti

Supervisor:

# Prof. Eng. Daniele Goi

Co-Supervisor:

Eng. Matia Mainardis

# TABLE OF CONTENTS:

1		ABSTRACT				
2		INTRODUCTION				
2.		1	Integ	grated Water Cycle explanation and technologies	4	
		2.1.1		Integrated Water Cycle definition	4	
		2.1.	.2	Wastewater Characterization	6	
		2.1.	.3	Wastewater Treatment Plant: structure and treatments	8	
	2.	2	A co	ncrete application for a suitable WW recovery	9	
	2.	3	Met	hods for the wastewater recovery	11	
		2.3.	.1	Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs)	11	
	2.	4	Legis	slative frameworks	14	
		2.4.	.1	Directive 91/271/EEC	14	
		2.4.	.2	Regulation (EU) 2020/741	15	
		2.4.	.3	Ministerial Decree 185/2003	17	
	2.	5	Chap	pter Conclusions		
3		MA	TERI	ALS AND METHODS	21	
3.1 Analytical		Anal	lytical techniques	21		
		3.1.	.1	Spectroscopy	21	
		3.1.	.2	Elemental analyzer	22	
		3.1.	.3	Microbial analysis	22	
		3.1.	.4	Other instruments	22	
	3.	2	Sono	ozone equipment: laboratory scale	23	
		3.2.	.1	Ultrasound processor: calibration and operating conditions	23	
		3.2.	.2	Ozone generator: calibration and operating conditions	24	
		3.2.	.3	Hybrid US + O3: design and treatment times	26	
	3.	3	Sono	ozone equipment: pilot scale	27	
		3.3.	.1	Materials	28	
		3.3.	.2	Operations	29	
	3.	4	Micr	robial in-depth assessment		
	3.	5	Ecor	nomic assessment	31	
		3.5.	.1	General calculation	31	
		3.5.	.2	Feasibility towards a microbial recovery: the in-depth method	32	
		3.6 Eco <sup>-</sup>				

	3.7	7 Experimental repeatability		rimental repeatability	34
	3.8	3 Chapter conclusions			35
4		RESULTS AND DISCUSSION			39
	4.2	1	Sono	ozone: laboratory-scale semi-continuous treatment	39
		4.1.	.1	Consumptions and concentrations	40
		4.1.	.2	Effects on solids	41
		4.1.	.3	Effects on organic matter	44
		4.1.	.4	Effects on nutrients	46
		4.1.	.5	Effects on microorganisms	48
		4.1.	.6	Effects on other hazardous pollutants	50
		4.1.	.7	Heavy metals and micropollutants assessment	51
		4.1.	.8	Energy assessment	52
		4.1.	.9	Literature comparison	53
	4.2	2	Sono	ozone: microbial kinetic modelling and cost-effectiveness	54
		4.2.	.1	Effect of US on microbial viability	54
		4.2.	.2	Effects of ozone treatment	54
		4.2.	.3	Effects of sonozone treatment	55
		4.2.	.4	Cost-effective analysis	58
	4.3	3	Sono	ozone: ecotoxicological in-silico evaluations	61
	4.4	4	Sono	ozone: pilot-scale	68
		4.4.	.1	Ozone concentrations	68
	4.5	5	Was	tewater reuse: the circular economy concept	68
	4.6	6	Ferti	gation case study	70
		4.6.	.1	Methodological framework	70
		4.6.	.2	Case study application	71
	4.7	7	Socia	al acceptance	76
	4.8	8	Chap	oter conclusions	77
5		COI	NCLU	SIONS	81
6		LIST OF PUBLICATIONS			
7		REFERENCES			

# LIST OF FIGURES:

Figure 2-a: SDGs	4
Figure 2-b: IWC structure	5
Figure 2-c: IWC conceptual scheme	6
Figure 2-d: Typical WWTP layout	8
Figure 3-a: US laboratory reactor	24
Figure 3-b: Laboratory scale ozone generator and reactors	25
Figure 3-c: Combined laboratory sonozone system setup	26
Figure 3-d: Pilot plant setup	27
Figure 3-e: Pilot plant column heights & Figure 3-f: Pilot plant columns diameters	28
Figure 3-g: Pilot plant components	28
Figure 3-h: Pilot plant flow scheme	30
Figure 4-a: Ozone consumption rate	41
Figure 4-b: Dissolved ozone concentration in pure water	41
Figure 4-c: TSS residual percentage	42
Figure 4-d: Ultrasounds particle size distribution	43
Figure 4-e: Ozone particle size distribution	43
Figure 4-f: Combination with $O_{3}$ 120 particle size distribution	44
Figure 4-g: TOC removal in sonozone tests	45
Figure 4-h: Total COD removal in sonozone tests	45
Figure 4-i: Soluble COD removal in sonozone tests	45
Figure 4-j: UV <sub>254</sub> removal in sonozone tests	46
Figure 4-k: TN removal in sonozone tests	47
Figure 4-I: Nitrogen ammonia removal in sonozone tests	48
Figure 4-m: TP removal in sonozone tests	48
Figure 4-n: E. Coli logarithmic reduction removal in sonozone tests	49
Figure 4-o: Enterococcus spp. logarithmic reduction removal in sonozone tests	50
Figure 4-p: Formaldehyde removal in sonozone tests	50
Figure 4-q: Anionic surfactants removal in sonozone tests	51
Figure 4-r: Pseudomonas spp. inactivation (Log CFU/mL) in spiked WW by ozonation treatme	ents;
dotted line represents data fitted by the Albert and Mafart (2003) model	55
Figure 4-s: Log reduction of Pseudomonas spp. viability following US treatments (light grey bars)	), O₃
treatments (white bars) for 60 s (a) and 120 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey ba	ars).
Asterisks mean a statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination	ı. 56
Figure 4-t: Log reduction of Enterococcus spp. viability following US treatments (light grey bars)	), O <sub>3</sub>
treatments (white bars) for 30 s (a) and 60 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars)	57
Figure 4-u: Log reduction of E. coli viability following US treatments (light grey bars), O3 treatment	ents
(white bars) for 15 s (a) and 30 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars). Asterisks mea	an a
statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination.	58
Figure 4-v: Log reduction of S. Enteritidis viability following US treatments (light grey bars),	, O₃
treatments (white bars) for 30 s (a) and 45 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars). Aster	risks
mean a statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination	58

Figure 4-w: Dissolved ozone in the PP reactor	68
Figure 4-x: Fertilizers provided by fertigation (kg/ha yr) in comparison with total crop demand in	n the
investigated scenarios	75
Figure 4-y: Simulated yearly fertilizer costs ( $\epsilon$ /ha yr) for the two investigated scenarios ve	ersus
baseline conditions (mineral fertilization).	76

# LIST OF TABLES:

Table 2-1: Main WW pollutants and typical concentration in Urban WWTPs	7
Table 2-2: Advanced Oxidation Processes application for wastewater agricultural reuse	.12
Table 2-3: 91/271/EEC defined parameters	.15
Table 2-4: RWW quality classes based on European Union Directive 2020/741	.16
Table 2-5: 185/2003 considered limit values for agricultural reuse	.17
Table 2-6: RWW thresholds references for the current study	.19
Table 3-1: Combination of US and O <sub>3</sub> tests - labels	.26
Table 4-1: PEff characterization	.40
Table 4-2: HMs comparison between 185/2003 and actual PEff concentrations	.52
Table 4-3: Basic energetic assessment	.53
Table 4-4: Microbial cost-effective analysis	.60
Table 4-5: Aromatic and aliphatic compound reduction percentages	.63
Table 4-6: Aromatic and aliphatic compound ecotoxicity assessment	.63
Table 4-7: Aromatic and aliphatic compounds persistence and solubility	.64
Table 4-8: Pollutant reduction percentages	.65
Table 4-9: Pollutant ecotoxicity assessment	.66
Table 4-10: Pollutant persistence and solubility	.67
Table 4-11: Minimum, average, and maximum WWTP flowrates in the irrigation period (Ap	oril-
September)	.71
Table 4-12: Physico-chemical parameters considered in the two investigated scenarios	.72
Table 4-13: Water and nutrient requirements for the considered crops	.73
Table 4-14: Specific irrigation requirements I (m <sup>3</sup> /month ha) of the investigated crops us	sing
irrigation systems with different efficiency E <sub>d</sub>	.74
Table 4-15: Water, fertilizers, and total economic savings (€/ha yr) for scenarios 1) and 2)	.76
Table 4-16: Summary of the results obtained with O <sub>3</sub> _60	.79

# LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS:

AC: activated carbon	<b>NOEC:</b> no observed effect concentration			
ACS: activated sludge process	nP: non-persistent			
AOP: advanced oxidation process	NPOC: non-purgeable organic carbon			
BOD: biochemical oxygen demand	nT: non-toxic			
CEC: contaminants of emerging concern	O₃: ozone			
COD: chemical oxygen demand	P.E.: population equivalent			
DBP: disinfection by-product	P: persistent			
DO: dissolved oxygen	PEff: primary effluent			
DW: drinkable water	PFAS: per-fluoro alkyl substances			
DWW: drinkable wastewater	PP: pilot plant			
E. Coli: Escherichia Coli	RWW: reclaimed wastewater			
EC50: effective concentration	S. Enteritidis: Salmonella Enteritidis			
GC-MS: gas chromatography – mass	spp.: several species			
spectrometry	SW: storm water			
GHG: greenhouse gasses	<b>TC:</b> total carbon <b>TDS:</b> total dissolved solids			
HL: half-life				
HM: heavy metal	TN: total nitrogen			
HPLC-HRMS: high-performance liquid chromatography - high resolution mass	TOC: total organic carbon			
spectrometry	TP: total phosphate			
H-T: high toxicity	<b>TSP:</b> triple super phosphate			
IC: inorganic carbon	TSS: total suspend solids			
ICP-AES: inductively coupled plasma - atomic	UN: united nations			
INC: integrated water cycle	US: ultrasound			
	UV-Vis: ultraviolet and visible			
	UWW: urban wastewater			
LC50: lethal Concentration	vP: very persistent			
L-T: low toxicity	VSS: volatile suspended solids			
M-T: medium toxicity	WW: wastewater			
N.T.: non treated	WWTP: wastewater treatment plant			
NDIR: nondispersive infrared analyzer	······································			

# **1 ABSTRACT**

The work that is presented aims to be a preliminary study on the applicability and potentialities of a low-frequency ultrasonic treatment combined with an ozone disinfection on a primary effluent from an urban wastewater treatment plant for an agricultural reuse (fertigation). The preservation of the nutrients contained in the original wastewater may contribute to the circular economy perspective, reducing the production costs for mineral fertilizers and the freshwater withdrawals. The limited scientific experience towards the hybrid ultrasonic and ozone process, called sonozone, requires an accurate laboratory experimental campaign, focused on the assessment of the regulated physico-chemical and biological compounds, that have to be controlled and maintained below the legislative limits. Particular attention has to be put on the pathogenic inactivation, as the reclaimed wastewater must be safely applied on crops. The technical feasibility will be associated with an economic assessment and an ecotoxicological evaluation. The importance of the wastewater recovery is nowadays increasing due to the climate change and the population growth. The integrated water cycle sustainability should move closer to the "zero-waste" concept and expand the classic wastewater treatment plant depuration towards resource recovery. The suitable application of the reclaimed wastewater for fertigation practices could help the process to move towards the integrated water cycle closing, following the circular economy perspective.

The primary effluent was appositively selected for the reuse. The solid load of a wastewater treatment plant inflow, from the drainage system, may be unsuitable for the direct sonozone treatment; the larger solids will promptly cause the clogging of the pipes and large diameters of particles may be unsuitable for the designed treatment times. So, the selected primary effluent is the wastewater deprived from these solids but unaltered in the dissolved properties. The maintenance of the dissolved nutrients is paramount for the current study purpose.

The work started with a laboratory-scale calibration of the instruments (ultrasonic probe and ozone generator) separately. An initial semi-continuous ultrasonic process and a discontinuous ozonation were performed. A precise characterization of the primary effluent wastewater was needed before the experiments. Then, the combination of processes in a semi-discontinuous setup allowed to test the coupled effect of the sequential ultrasonic pretreatment and ozonation. The hybrid process' high removal efficiency was matched by an outstanding retention of nutrients (total nitrogen and total phosphate) highlighting the potential for the primary effluent reuse, with possible significant saving of chemical fertilizers.

1

#### ABSTRACT

The wastewater' sonozone recovery could save a meaningful amount of nutrients. However, being a well-known energy-consumer processes, it has to be assessed on the field based on the removal capacity. An economic assessment was given for the hybrid technology and compared to other classic secondary and tertiary treatments. Towards a safe microbial recovery, an in-depth analysis on microorganisms was presented. Being only few the mandatory pathogens required in the legislation, additional microorganisms will be tested with the ultrasonic and ozone processes alone and combined. The kinetic modelling and logarithmic abatement of four microbial species, namely *Pseudomonas* spp., *E. coli, Enterococcus* spp. and *S. Enteritidis,* was performed. Moreover, an ecotoxicological in-silico evaluation indicated the sonozone removal capacity towards several hazardous and persistent chemicals, addressing the eco-toxic concentration in different environments, their persistence and solubility in water.

The pilot scale laboratory tests should be intended as the transition from a semi-continuous laboratory scale to a bigger-scale plant running continuously, as a further step for the evaluation of the proposed agricultural reuse. The reactor building and the connection of the units will be described, additional flow dynamics are design and tested. The wastewater treatment through the pilot unit will be matter of future analysis.

The circular economy concept is strongly related to the possibilities of the conventionally removed compound to be recovered and reused through the fertigation concept. In order to support the laboratory tests, a meaningful case study was analyzed. Two different scenarios were shown for the extent of expressing a tangible recover of water and nutrients. However, stakeholders and citizens are still reluctant in the adoption of this wastewater reuse practice for the irrigation, and thus proper informative campaign to relevant stakeholders should be always planned before moving to full-scale considerations.

The overall study outcomes showed remarkable opportunities for the primary effluent reuse for agricultural purposes in a circular economy perspective, despite energy costs may still hinder the full-scale applicability of this technology. Moreover, the sonozone application in rural areas, not reached by a suitable sewage and depuration system, may result highly recommended for the prospective of direct effluent reuse, especially when coupled with an electricity generator plant (e.g. photovoltaic panels).

The extensive use of high-quality water, in addition to the non-stopping population increase and the inexorable climate change, may lead to severe reduction in global water availability [1]. The urban, industrial, and agricultural sectors are the main freshwater consumers, reaching about four trillion cubic meters annually [2]. Water usage was increasing, during the last century, at a rate twice as the population growth [3]. Forecasts are projecting that the water demand may be 55% higher in 2050 than in 2015, due to the increased utilization in manufacturing, electricity generation, and household applications [4]. United Nations (UN) drafted in 2015 the "2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", adopted by all the UN members [5]. Considering water exploitation consistent with the predictions, worldwide the countries are not prepared to achieve the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 6 (Fig. 2-a), which aspires to accomplish extensive and sustainable water management and sanitation by 2030 [6]. To satisfy this intent, the entire world must move from the current situation to a new one, with several additional investments in the sectors related to wastewater (WW) treatment and recovery. Above all, the most pressing sector towards the freshwater supplies is the agricultural one. We may assume that the 70% of worldwide freshwater withdrawal is used in the agricultural sector [7]. Irrigation with reclaimed wastewater could be an alternative method to reduce the freshwater storage's pressure. Moreover, there is a necessity to safely introduce a circular reuse of reclaimed water in other daily practices where freshwater is commonly used. The most important necessity is to guarantee the desired quality of recycled water to be harmless for every human being and for the environment [8]. Reusing the reclaimed wastewater for agricultural purposes could be a fair practice in a context of freshwater availability's lacking and climate change, which leads to more severe drought seasons [9].



Figure 2-a: SDGs

# 2.1 Integrated Water Cycle explanation and technologies

The concepts that are going to be explained in this chapter are mandatory towards an understanding of a sustainable and environmental-friendly wastewater recovery. Different sources are causing a pollution inside the water, requiring a proper assessment and management of the waste products. The wastewater characterization and treatment have to be considered and designed. Nowadays, diverse technological processes are available but not all of them are suitable for a recovery of the wastewater. The study will mostly focus on the assessment and treatment of the urban wastewater. Anyway, it can be applied also to the industrial wastewater flows. The legislative thresholds that have to be respected will be reported as well.

# 2.1.1 Integrated Water Cycle definition

The Integrated Water Cycle (IWC) refers to the sequence of three main water services: Aqueducts, Sewage systems and Depuration (Fig. 2-b). The aqueduct is the initial part of the IWC and consists of processes such as the catchment, the first potabilization treatment and the distribution of the water from the source to the consumers. The withdrawal from the environment may be different, depending on the source from which the water is withdrawn. Springs, artesian wells, rivers, lakes, reservoirs and surfaces aquifers are the most accessible catchment points. Successively, the collected water has to be stored in proper reservoirs and purified, in order to meet the minimum quality required by the national or international drinking guidelines regarding physical, chemical and biological parameters. Through a designed system of pipes, the drinkable water (DW) is transported in each area belonging to the network district, adopting pressurized flows. During the distribution of the purified water to the final utilities, it is mandatory to preserve the characteristics of the water.

Then, the used water employed for any purpose by the household or industrial users have to be gathered and transported to the wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) through the drainage system. The water, from here on, has to be called WW due to the changing in its properties after the contact with some anthropomorphic and mechanic utilizations. This WW must be properly treated in the WWTPs and discharged in specific areas (surface basins, soils or collected in further drainage systems) in order to return it quantitatively and "approximately" qualitatively to the environment [10]. The qualitative assessment will be better explained in the following chapters, anyway the possibility to "close" the IWC is technically feasible, however the economic convenience is still not satisfactory in order to generally apply the process in full scale operations.



Figure 2-b: IWC structure

In order to avoid issues in the planning of the processes, often the entire IWC is ruled by the same managing authority [11].



Figure 2-c: IWC conceptual scheme

The improvement of a sustainable and efficient DW and WW management is one of the most important aspects requested by the SDGs. As shown in the Figure 2-c, in the same way as DW and WW, the stormwater (SW) has to be considered. In particular, from an optimal IWC management point of view, the initial part (the first 2 mm of rainfall) of the SW that reached the soils has to be considered as strongly polluted water that must be treated in the WWTPs [12].

# 2.1.2 Wastewater Characterization

The following two types of WW are distinct from one another: domestic wastewater (DWW) and industrial wastewater (IWW). DWW is defined as water altered in quality after being in contact with anthropic activities, such as human metabolism and household uses, whereas IWW is discharged from other possible processes, mainly industrial ones. The mixture of these two different wastewaters and the run-off stormwater is called urban wastewater (UWW).

The composition and the load of the organic matter, solids, nutrients, micropollutants (such as heavy metals, pesticides, drugs, surfactants, pharmaceuticals and more) and microorganisms may vary based on the different WW sources. Large differences in the properties (amounts and types of contaminants) of DWW, IWW and UWW result in challenges with the measurements [13]. These heterogeneities may require different designs of the measurement campaigns and equipment used for characterization. The prevailing pollutants included in the WW are summarized in Table 2-1.

Category	Parameter	Acronym	Typical	Reference
			concentration in urban WWTPS	
Physicochemical	Alkalinity	-	100-200 mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> /L	[14], [15]
	Conductivity	-	600-800 mS/cm	[16]
	Dissolved Oxygen	DO	5 mg/L	[17]
	рН	-	7-8	[18]
	Total Hardness	-	300 mg/L	[15]
	Turbidity	-	50 NTU *	[19]
Organic matter	Biochemical Oxygen	BOD	80-300 (BOD₅) mg/L	[18], [19]
	Chemical Oxygen	COD	160-500 (Total) mg/l	[16]
	Demand		200 (Soluble) mg/L 300 (Suspended) mg/L	[10]
	Total Organic Carbon	тос	30-200 mg/L	[17]
Solids	Total Dissolved	TDS	600 mg/L	[17]
	Total Suspended	TSS	200-400 mg/L	[16]
	Volatile Suspended	VSS	320 mg/L	[16]
Nutrients	Nitrogen	Ν	60–110 (TKN) mg/L 50-100 (NH4-N) mg/L 0,5 (Nitrate + Nitrite) mg/L 25 (Organic N) mg/L	[16], [18]
	Phosphate	Ρ	15 (TP) mg/L 10 (Ortho-P) mg/L 5 (Organic P) mg/L	[16]
	Potassium	К	9 mg/L	[19]
Heavy metals (HMs)	Aluminum	Al	0,6 mg/L	[16]
	Cadmium	Cd	0,002 mg/L	[16]
	Chromium	Cr	0,025 mg/L	[16]
	Copper	Cu	0,07 mg/L	[16]
	Lead	Pb	0,06 mg/L	[16]
	Mercury	Hg	0,002 mg/L	[16]
	Nickel	Ni	0,025 mg/L	[16]
	Silver	Ag	0,007 mg/L	[16]
	Zinc	Zn	0,2 mg/L	[16]
Microorganisms	Coliphages	-	10 <sup>5</sup> CFU/100 mL **	[16]
	Escherichia Coli	E. Coli	10 <sup>7</sup> CFU/100 mL **	[16]
	Roundworms	-	10 eggs/L	[16]
	Salmonella	-	150 CFU/100 mL **	[16]
Surfactants	Total	-	13 mg/L	[19]

Table 2-1: Main WW pollutants and typical concentration in Urban WWTPs

\* NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Unit

\*\* CFU: Colony forming unit

#### 2.1.3 Wastewater Treatment Plant: structure and treatments

The typical urban wastewater treatment plant is built as Fig. 2-d. The WW inflow, coming from the sewage system, is treated through a combination of different processes (physical, chemical and biological) for pollutants removal [20], [21]. The size of the WWTP is defined as the number of Population Equivalent (P.E.) that have to be treated throughout the plant. The WWTP possess two main lines: the water line (light blue arrows Fig. 2-d) and the sludge one (brown arrows in Fig. 2-d). In the current work we will focus only on the WW treatment, not mentioning at all the sludge line.



Figure 2-d: Typical WWTP layout

The inflow WW often requires a pumping station due to the not favorable slope of the ground or different heights from the soil level and the tank entrance. The initial pretreatment of the WW inflow is composed by a mechanical screening and a grit chamber, for the removal of the biggest solids and the technical sands (> 2 mm of diameter). In addition to them, oil and grease are occasionally removed in the same basin. The totality of these wastes is collected and transported into proper disposal areas. Successively, the WW arrives to the first settler tank, the primary clarifier. The remaining settleable solids are here removed from the bottom of the reactor and pumped to the sludge line. The clarified water, from the upper layers, is further pumped in the secondary treatment, the so-called Activated Sludge (ACS) Process [22]. A multi-chamber aeration tank is connected to a secondary clarifier, with the addition of an internal (aerobic to aerobic) and an external (clarifier to aerobic) recycle underflow. The ACS is the most diffused depuration technique towards the nutrient and organic matter remotion, caused by the microorganism's action. The design of the big size WWTPs, having a potentiality larger than 100.000 P.E., always

requires a series of aerobic and anaerobic/anoxic basins. The sequence of an aerobic and an anoxic reactor is widely adopted for the nitrogen removal (Nitrification and Denitrification) and the anaerobic sector may stress the microorganisms and allow the phosphate removal (Dephosphorylation) to be more efficient. Anyway, all these additional biological treatments are included in the ACS process concept. The active biomass coming from the aerobic section is gathered, after its settling, from the bottom of the secondary clarifier and recycled. An optional tertiary treatment, used when needed, is composed by chlorination, UV irradiation, Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs), filtration processes, such as Activated Carbon (AC), Sand filters, Reverse Osmosis and other chemical dosages [23]. The aim of the tertiary treatment is the remotion of residual pathogen organisms, hazardous for the human health and the environment balance. The conclusion of the depuration line is the discharge of the treated WW to the desired location.

The ACS treatment, as abovementioned, is a robust and widely employed methodology for the removal of different pollutants. Moreover, it is adopted from more than 100 years in the WW treatment sector. However, the world nowadays requires to push towards a nutrient recovery and reuse, not only to the respect of strict depuration thresholds.

# 2.2 A concrete application for a suitable WW recovery

The fundamental nutrients contained in the wastewater flows, basics for the vegetation growth, are nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (Table 2-1). A fertigation practice is defined as the application on soils of nutrients that were previously mixed and dissolved in water. However, this methodology is frequently interpreted as fresh water combined with granular fertilizers and spread on the soils through a piping system. Fertilizers are essential as a food supply in intensive agriculture; nonetheless, they contribute to GreenHouse Gasses (GHG) emissions and environmental dispersion, with adverse environmental effects [24]. In order to satisfy the current project's WW recovery idea, a different approach have to be intended. If the N-P-K concentration in the WW is acceptable, a certain recovered WW (RWW) volume could be directly pumped onto the crops, establish the fertigation practice in the same way. This volume had to be previously treated in the upstream WWTPs, e.g., by adopting further designed disinfection processes. Fertigation could avoid excessive nutrient leaching since this methodology of nutrient distribution promotes a rapid crop's uptake. Nitrogen is the most abundant nutrient. Its use in industrial fertilizers is associated with high dispersion that can induce surface and ground water pollution, eutrophication, ammonia and

nitrates contamination [25]. These losses limit its utilization by crops, could be finally harmful to humans and reduce overall crop productivity [26].

Phosphorous, a nutrient which global geological reserves are limited, and undergoing a fast depletion [27], could also be recovered from wastewater streams significantly enhancing the IWC sustainability [28], [29]. P recovery through struvite precipitation has been investigated as a recovery option, especially from anaerobic effluents and sewage sludge [30], [31]. However, a more direct solution would consist in direct effluent reuse for fertigation, exploiting effluents without (or with limited) P removal.

Potassium will be evaluated in the following section, as well as calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg). However, compared to N and P, their importance is slightly lower for the plant growth.

Specific effluent properties ought to be thoroughly assessed when implementing water reuse schemes to verify the fulfillment of fertilization requirements, adjusting the ratios if necessary [32]. Crops are characterized by different water volumes (m<sup>3</sup>/ha yr) and nutrient mass (kg/ha yr) requirements. Punctual nutrient requirements should be considered in all fertigation approaches, comparing effluent characteristics with temporal crop needs [33]. Also, recommended N-P values vary depending on soil characteristics and baseline concentrations. Particular care, finally, should be posed in fertigation practices in nitrate vulnerable areas, such as areas at risk from agricultural nitrate pollution [34].

Fertigation is more attractive in situations of severe water scarcity, hence water-saving distribution systems (e.g., micro-sprinklers or subsurface drip irrigation) may be preferred to traditional ones (e.g., flood or sprinkler irrigation) in many situations.

Beside agronomic aspects, fertigation practices should include in-depth assessment of long-term effects on possible pedologic modifications. Depending on circumstances, RWW fertigation was shown to increase soil fertility, enhancing crop yield and quality, without alteration of aggregation, penetration resistance, water infiltration rates, porosity, and organic carbon content of the agricultural soil even after prolonged application [35].

Despite being present at very low concentrations in treated effluents (down to few ng/kg), Contaminants of Emerging Concern (CECs) can be harmful for plant growth as well as for humans and animals that consume them [36]. This aspect has to be considered during the RWW application on soils.

In conclusion, fertigation affects many different aspects of agricultural activities: these include agronomy, soil structure, environmental impacts, economic sustainability, social acceptance. The

proper application of the fertigation practice could help the process move towards to the IWC closing and into the circular economy perspective.

### 2.3 Methods for the wastewater recovery

Above all the described WW treatments, it is possible to classify the totality of them into three main groups of processes: the physical, the chemical and the biological ones [37].

The typical physical process used in the WW sector include absorption, sedimentation and membrane filtration. All these processes are mostly effective for the removal of inorganic pollutants. Moreover, longer retention times need to be considered in order to let them be efficient. The pretreatment grit chamber, screenings and the clarifiers are examples of physical processes commonly adopted in the WWTPs.

A range of chemical processes are available, such as adsorption, chemical coagulation and flocculation. The specificity of them permits their employment for a wide assortment of targeted pollutants. Furthermore, a new class of chemical processes, the AOPs, has gained interest from the scientific and industrial communities due to their remarkable capacity of abatement of refractory organic pollutants. Further explanation will be given in the following chapters.

The biological processes rely on microorganisms for the elimination of organic compounds. They can be divided into two main groups: aerobic and anaerobic ones. The ACS process has been conventionally used for the organic abatement from wastewater streams. However, its applicability is limited for the remediation of organic CECs such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products [38].

The biological processes, mainly related to the ACS treatment in the WWTPs, are not suitable for the purposes of this study, due to the unconditional remotion of the nutrients from the WW. On the other hand, the physical process could not treat, by themselves, the WW enough in order to maintain the concentration of several compounds (such as pathogens) below the required thresholds of pollution, such as pathogens. So, the chemical treatments stand as particularly meaningful for the study.

#### 2.3.1 Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs)

AOPs can remove a wide range of pollutants in wastewater and achieve high-level disinfection by promoting the generation of strong oxidants (mainly OH-radicals or other species) with nonselective oxidation and degradation of organic compounds and pathogens destruction [39]. The hydroxyl

radicals (OH•), targeting the organic compounds, transform them into smaller and easily biodegradable organics or completely mineralize them into carbon dioxide and water. AOPs are indicated to remove refractory contaminants that cannot be destroyed using traditional technologies [40]. Despite complete pollutant mineralization may be economically unsustainable, combination of chemical and biological treatments can be feasible when dealing with concentrated agro-food industrial effluents [41], [42]. However, even AOPs proved to be ineffective for the degradation of highly refractory pollutants, such as Per-Fluoro Alkyl Substances (PFAS), that may be present at low concentrations in many types of WW [43]. Moreover, the high energy consumption and the installation costs are severe drawbacks. The AOPs applications for agricultural reclamation of wastewater are limited; the most relevant outcomes are summarized in Table 2-2.

Single process	Treated stream	Main outcomes	Reference
Ozonation	Cattle wastewater	Excellent oil and greases (100%), Coliforms (99%), color (88,5%) and turbidity (93,4%) abatement after 2 h ozonation; lower COD (55%) and BOD (64%) removal	[44]
Ultrasounds	Urban wastewater	Degradation of organic compounds; mostly adopted as a pretreatment	[45]
Microwave assisted	Municipal Wastewater	Degradation of organic compounds; mostly adopted as a pretreatment	[46]
Ultraviolet (UV)-light emitting diode (LED) disinfection	Biological wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluent	Advantageous alternative to mercury- vapor lamps; UV-LED effluents do not affect soil organic matter composition for agricultural reuse	[47]
Photochemical electrolysis	Urban wastewater	Exploitation of renewable solar light; feasible disinfection option; more sustainable treatment chain	[48]
$UV/H_2O_2$ , $O_3/H_2O_2$ , electrochemical oxidation	Contaminated wastewater	UV/H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> and O <sub>3</sub> /H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> achieved 100% compound degradation after 2 h; electrochemical oxidation showed slower degradation; eco-toxicity concerns	[49]
Fenton like	Leachates and strongly polluted wastewater	Organic compound removal after 30 min at 70 °C, heterogeneous phase reaction could enhance the efficiency	[50]

Table	2-2: Advanced	Oxidation	Processes	application	for	wastewater	agricultural	reuse
				11	<i>,</i>		5	

Among AOPs, ozone is particularly indicated for wastewater disinfection, being able to inactivate pathogens, due to its strong oxidative power [51]. Combination of different AOPs can lead to superior results when compared to individual processes [49], [52]. For the extent of this study, the attention will be given exclusively to the sonication and ozonation treatments.

#### 2.3.1.1 Ultrasonic treatment

Ultrasound (US) generates the cavitation phenomenon, that is responsible of a mechanical, physical and chemical effects that may cause microorganisms' death inside a liquid medium [53]. The creation and powerful implosion of microbubbles result in a perturbation of the external environment [45]. During a sonochemical treatment, the bubbles' collapse generates high temperatures (> 5000 K) and pressures (> 1000 bar). Moreover, the highly oxidative radical specie of OH• is produced, which can target the organic pollutants and disrupt bacterial membranes, thus leading to microorganisms' death [54]. Despite the disinfection efficacy, full-scale applications of ultrasonic treatments require a huge amount of energy, resulting in high maintenance costs [55].

#### 2.3.1.2 Ozone treatment

Ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) is a strong oxidant, well-known in literature and widely applied in WW treatment [39]. It is recognized as a valuable disinfectant due to the capacity of generate free hydroxylic radicals. Ozone disinfection of WW from primary treatment could maintain the nutrients and, at the same time, be an efficient pathogen removal agent [56], [57]. The O<sub>3</sub> solubility in water is strongly related to the temperature and the pH [58]. Being twice as high at 20 °C than at 40 °C, a temperature control system must be installed while working with the ozone as an oxidant. Needing a shorter process duration, compared to the other above-mentioned AOPs, it can be helpful towards a reduction of the energy inputs. The Disinfection by-products (DBPs) are a serious matter of concern, particularly since disinfection is a key component of the necessary treatment train prior to RWW fertigation. Well-known ozone formed compounds, being in contact with the residual organic matter contained in the WW (humic and fulvic acids), are the aldehydes [52].

#### 2.3.1.3 Hybrid AOPs: Combined US + O<sub>3</sub>

From here on, the combination of US and  $O_3$  will be called as Sonozone. This term does not have to be confused with the contemporary application of the two AOPs inside the same reactor; in this study the application of them will be exclusively indicated the sequence of US followed by the  $O_3$ .

The Sonozone potential benefit is related to the augment of the concentration of hydroxylic radicals, formed by the ultrasonic pretreatment, that enhance the efficiency of the process due to higher transfer rates into water [59]. Recent studies have proven an increase, during the combined process, of the organic matter removal [60]. Moreover, besides the single processes, the sonozone might result in higher bacterial inactivation rates [61]. Differences in the DBPs formation, comparing the

sonozone and the single ozonation, have to be assessed. Toxicity evaluations are mandatory, being a serious matter of concern when involving chemical reactions for the disinfection of the WW. Anyway, limited studies are reported in literature regarding the sonozone application for the urban WW reuse.

# 2.4 Legislative frameworks

Countries and international organizations commonly define specific guidelines and regulations to classify and standardize the number of parameters (physical, chemical, and biological) needed for wastewater characterization. Different criteria may be required depending on the discharge location and for the WWTP size, seen as number of P.E. [62]. Moreover, a survey of the available worldwide regulations/guidelines for RWW for agricultural reuses was conducted: as the related legislative framework is constantly evolving, a highly inhomogeneous situation was highlighted. Regulations may differ concerning targeted parameters and threshold limits, e.g., coliforms can be enforced in different countries as total coliforms, E. Coli, or thermal coliforms [63]. In addition, thresholds may differ according to crop types, being generally stricter for contact irrigation of crops intended for raw human consumption. Among all the defined ones from Table 2-1, a small number of them is regularly monitored.

The most important documents considered will be explained in the following sub-sections.

#### 2.4.1 Directive 91/271/EEC

The first council directive shared through the "Official Journal of the European Communities" was the 91/271/EEC of 21 May 1991 "concerning urban waste water treatment" [62]. The "Requirements for discharges from urban wastewater treatment plants" as a threshold, or a percentage of reduction, in the effluent concentration compared to the influent characteristics are reported. The WW quality is characterized with the organic matter content, BOD<sub>5</sub> (without nitrification) and COD, the TSS, and the nutrients, through TP and TN. To be accepted for a safe discharge, an effluent parameter must show a concentration below the given limits or a reduction percentage, compared to the influent value, higher than the one established by the Directive. Moreover, the European Directive suggests specific evaluation methodologies that have to be followed. Nevertheless, this Directive does not consider the heavy metals, pathogens and surfactants as mandatory quality controls, even though WW may include significant concentrations

of these compounds. To sum up the information contained in the 91/271/EEC (Annex I, Table 1 and 2), the discharging requirements are reported in Table 2-3:

Parameters and unit of measurement	Maximum concentration allowed	Minimum percentage of reduction
BOD₅ (mg/L) *	25	70 - 90
COD (mg/L)	125	75
TSS (mg/L)	35 (> 10.000 P.E.) 60 (2.000 - 10.000 P.E.)	90 (> 10.000 P.E.) 70 (2.000 - 10.000 P.E.)
TN (mg/L)	10 (> 100.000 P.E.) 15 (10.000 - 100.000 P.E.)	70 - 80
TP (mg/L)	1 (> 100.000 P.E.) 2 (10.000 - 100.000 P.E.)	80

Table 2-3: 91/271/EEC defined parameters

\* The BOD<sub>5</sub> can be replaced by the TOC if a relationship can be established between them.

### 2.4.2 Regulation (EU) 2020/741

The most recent "Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 May 2020 on minimum requirements for water reuse" (EU 2020/741) is here considered [64]. The Directive defines four water quality classes for irrigation (Table 2-4) and is scheduled for adoption by all EU member states within the year 2022. This new EU regulation establish the requirements for each reuse class (A, B, C, D, with decreasing quality); the noncompliance of just a single parameter leads to demotion to a lower class. Remarkably, the four classes (Annex I, Section 1, Table 1) are:

- A) All food crops consumed raw where the edible part is in direct contact with reclaimed water and root crops consumed raw (all irrigation methods);
- B) Food crops consumed raw where the edible part is produced above ground and is not in direct contact with reclaimed water, processed food crops and non-food crops including crops used to feed milk- or meat-producing animals (all irrigation methods);
- C) Food crops consumed raw where the edible part is produced above ground and is not in direct contact with reclaimed water, processed food crops and non-food crops including crops used to feed milk- or meat-producing animals (drip irrigation or other irrigation method that avoids direct contact with the edible part of the crop);
- D) Industrial, energy and seeded crops (all irrigation methods).

RWW quality class		А	В	С	D	
Indicative techno and unit of mea	ology target asurement	Secondary treatment, filtration, and disinfection	Secondary treatment and disinfection	Secondary treatment and disinfection	Secondary treatment and disinfection	
	E. coli (CFU/100 mL)	≤ 10 (once/week)	≤ 100 (once/week)	≤ 1.000 (twice/month)	≤ 10.000 (twice/month)	
	BOD₅ (mg/L)	≤ 10 (once/week)	≤ 25 **	≤ 25 **	≤ 25 **	
Quality	COD (mg/L)	-	≤ 125 *	≤ 125 *	≤ 125 *	
requirements and monitoring	TSS (mg/L)	≤ 10 (once/week)	≤ 35 (> 10.000 P.E.) ** ≤ 60 (2.000 - 10.000 P.E.) **	≤ 35 (> 10.000 P.E.) ** ≤ 60 (2.000 - 10.000 P.E.) **	≤ 35 (> 10.000 P.E.) ** ≤ 60 (2.000 - 10.000 P.E.) **	
frequency***	Turbidity (NTU)	≤ 5 (continuous)	-	-	-	
		Legionella	a spp. (twice/mont aeroso	h): < 1.000 CFU/L w lization risk	here there is	
	Other	Other Intestinal nematodes (helminth eggs) (twice/month or as determined by				
		operators according to the number of eggs in influent wastewater): $\leq 1$				
			egg/Lioi pastur	e of forage in gatio	11	

Table 2-4: RWW quality classes based on European Union Directive 2020/741

\* Parameter not mentioned according to EU regulation 2020/741; limits set as reported in Directive 91/271/EEC [62]

\*\* In accordance with Directive 91/271/EEC (Annex I, Table 1 and Section D).

\*\*\*Monitoring frequencies: minimum annual samples determined according to WWTP size.

• 2.000 - 9.999 P.E.: 12 samples during the first year. 4 samples in subsequent years, if effluent compliance to the Directive during the year is proven, otherwise 12 samples;

• 10.000 - 49.999 P.E.: 12 samples/year;

• > 50.000 P.E.: 24 samples/year.

The new EU regulation, beside establishing minimum requirements for RWW, defines (Annex II) sitespecific risk management approaches, specifying standards for data transparency. The entire cycle of wastewater reclamation (from sewers to WWTPs, to final reuse) is considered in a risk assessment approach, including analysis of environmental and health hazards, monitoring strategies, and protocols for emergency situations.

For consistency of comparison, a few assumptions were made herein:

1) in the absence of aerosols formation during irrigation (e.g., when using sprinklers), Legionella spp. was omitted from subsequent considerations;

2) the 5-days Biochemical oxygen demand ( $BOD_5$ ) and total suspended solids (TSS) thresholds for classes B, C and D were reported in accordance with Directive 91/271/EEC;

3) chemical oxygen demand (COD), not mentioned in EU Regulation 2020/741, was included in the analysis, with limits set in Directive 91/271/EEC, since some existing regulations foresee COD rather than BOD<sub>5</sub> as relevant parameter;

4) turbidity was considered a required parameter only for the highest quality RWW (class A).

5) Exclusively for the class A, the indicator microorganisms have to show a minimum logarithmic reduction in order to validate the monitoring (Annex I, Section 2, Table 4).

Even though the Directive 2020/741 specifies all the mandatory compounds for a WW safe reuse, the N and P compounds are not mentioned at all. Then, nutrients and additional hazardous compounds are explained through the detailed study of the Italian national legislation.

#### 2.4.3 Ministerial Decree 185/2003

The Italian guidelines towards a WW agricultural reuse are one of the strictest and most complete in the world [65]. The main regulatory document for the WW reuse is the Ministerial Decree of 12 June 2003, number 185 (185/2003 – "Regolamento recante norme tecniche per il riutilizzo delle acque reflue") [34]. Several parameters are defined within it. Remarkably, the Directive 91/271/EEC and the Regulation 2020/741 are not exhaustive managing the range of possible pollutants produced through the AOPs disinfection process, while considering the adoption of classical secondary and tertiary WWTPs treatments. So, additional monitored compounds are indispensable in these cases. Analyzing in depth the Decree 185/2003, 55 different parameters are introduced, including their thresholds. However, only few of them will be assessed during the following consideration for an agricultural reuse, and subsequently presented (Table 2-5).

Parameters and unit of measurement	RWW threshold
рН (-)	6 - 9,5
TSS (mg/L)	10
BOD₅ (mg/L)	20
COD (mg/L)	100
TN (mg/L)	15
Ammonia (mg/L)	2
TP (mg/L)	2
Total aldehydes (mg/L)	0,5
Total surfactants (mg/L)	0,5
E. Coli (CFU/100 mL)	100
Salmonella (CFU/100 mL)	not present

Table 2-5: 185/2003 considered limit values for agricultural reuse

The reported limits for TN and TP could be considered, respectively, increased up to 35 mg/L and 10 mg/L in case of treated WW reuse not on nitrate-vulnerable soils [52]. Howsoever, the soil properties have to be previously studied.

#### 2.5 Chapter Conclusions

An innovative WW treatment will be proposed with the current study in order to present new solutions for the water scarcity. The climate change effects and the population growth made wide areas of the world suffering from unavailability of clean and sanitized water, requiring advanced water-recovering processes. The IWC, being a small part of the bigger natural water cycle, is helpful to reestablish a balance in the environment after the anthropic exploitation of the water resources. Towards the current project's purpose, the interest mostly relies on the primary effluent (PEff) from the urban WWTPs. This is the WW, treated exclusively through the pretreatments and the primary clarifier, sampled before the entrance of the ACS process. The meaningfulness about this design choice is that only part of the solids was removed before the sample collection, while all the further remarkable compounds, including nutrients, are not. Those parameters could be classified as shown in Table 2-1 and the given limits are reported in the national and international regulations. The main target for the WW reclamation is defined as the agricultural sector, not excluding a future application to the industrial or civil necessities. The technology may be successfully introduced in dry areas, reducing the freshwater exploitation. The fertigation practice is the ideal approach for the WW agricultural reuse. The recovery of water and nutrients contributes to the circular economy perspective through the reduced need for both chemical fertilizers and freshwater supply in the agricultural sector. Moreover, the above-mentioned IWC qualitative closing prospective is supported. To guarantee whether the PEff reuse is feasible, maintaining the hazardous compounds under the legislative given thresholds, an additional disinfection is mandatory in any case. However, the preservation of nutrients (N and P) has to be guaranteed. A safe and valuable reclamation of the WW is indispensable. The implementation, initially at the laboratory scale, of two AOPs is proposed. The sonozone process is the hypothesized solution for the RWW agricultural reuse, as it demonstrated in literature the capacity of remove the hazardous compounds from the WW yet still maintaining the nutrients unaltered. Anyway, limited experiences were reported on combined US and O<sub>3</sub> applications on PEff treatment. The study is performed under different conditions to evaluate the system efficiency. Looking at a global perspective, regulations or guidelines adopted to assess the WW flows could be even stricter compared to 2020/741, adding a larger number of

18

requirements or stricter thresholds. The decision made was to perform the WW reuse exclusively on crops described as classes B, C or D from Table 2-4. Furthermore, the nutrient limit values and well-known by-products and harmful compounds will be added from the Italian 185/2003 decree. The following Table 2-6 is beneficial to sum up the parameters utilized as a reference in the following:

Parameters and unit of measurement	RWW threshold	
рН (-)	6 - 9,5	
TSS (mg/L)	10	
BOD₅ (mg/L)	20	
COD (mg/L)	100	
TN (mg/L)	15 (35) *	
Ammonia (mg/L)	2	
TP (mg/L)	2 (10) *	
Total aldehydes (mg/L)	0,5	
Total surfactants (mg/L)	0,5	
E. Coli (CFU/100 mL)	100	
Salmonella (CFU/100 mL)	not present	

Table 2-6: RWW thresholds references for the current study

\*: values inside the parentheses when not nitrate-vulnerable soils are considered.

The turbidity evaluation is not mandatory. In the absence of aerosols formation during irrigation (e.g., when using sprinklers), Legionella spp. was omitted from subsequent considerations. Furthermore, a basic heavy metals assessment was conducted for the extent of comparing their PEff concentrations with the legislation thresholds. The evaluation of the soil sensibility towards the nitrates could allow to select the higher thresholds for TN and TP. In addition, an in-depth analysis will be performed for the microbiological pollutants. As well as *Salmonella*, seen as *Salmonella Enteritidis* (*S. Enteritidis*), and *E. Coli, Pseudomonas* spp. and *Enterococcus* spp. will be assessed.

# **3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Nowadays, the adoption of sophisticated and precise tests for the assessment of the WW's main parameters is permitted by the available technologies. Those experimental tests are mandatory in order to evaluate the abatement efficiency occurred during the performed disinfection through the AOPs. The disinfection processes have to be accomplished starting from the smaller scale (laboratory-scale) before moving to bigger ones, such as pilot-scale and full-scale. Throughout the utilization of spectrophotometers, elemental analyzers or other complex instruments, each needed concentration may be calculated and compared to its raw value. Among AOPs, the combination of US and O<sub>3</sub> shown in literature promising opportunities within the RWW reuse. Volumes, concentrations and treatment duration have to be calibrated and, despite being well-known for the separate processes, carefully set for the sonozone combination and its replicability. Furthermore, the economic feasibility and the toxicity have to be reasonably demonstrated.

# **3.1** Analytical techniques

In this section, experimental instruments and adopted characterization processes will be defined.

#### 3.1.1 Spectroscopy

Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-Vis) Spectroscopy is adopted in the monitoring of the absorbance (or transmittance) for WW samples in the laboratories. The UV-Vis range is covering the electromagnetic spectrum in the region from 100 to 700 nm. During a WW disinfection process, when color shifts from a darker to a lighter one, the difference in absorbance indicates the extent of organic abatement. Marked differences corresponds to higher absorbance outputs. The produced spectrum, single or multi wavelength, can be correlated to the identification of the compound concentrations. Being easier and cheaper compared the other instruments, a spectrophotometer was employed for the assessment of the concentration of several compounds of interest, such as TSS, COD, ammonia, nitrites, nitrates, TP, UV<sub>254</sub>, O<sub>3</sub> concentration, surfactants and aldehydes. The methods to be followed for the characterization of the compounds are detailed in the manual "Standard methods for the examination of the water and wastewater" [66]. Aqueous tested samples are compared with a zero reference while subjected to a UV-Vis source. The comparison between the absorptions gives an indication regarding the organic abatement [67]. Cuvettes are used as containers during the measurements, made by glass, plastic or quartz. The

Hach-Lange DR5000 spectrophotometer was used. All the analytical measurements were performed in triplicate.

# 3.1.2 Elemental analyzer

TOC and TN were measured using a specific TOC/TN-TOCN-4110 Analyzer (Shimadzu) [68]. TOC methods use high temperature (typically 650 to 1200 °C) to convert organic carbon into carbon dioxide and measure it as fully oxidized. The method requires no reagents. The CO<sub>2</sub> may be purged from the sample via carrier gas to a nondispersive infrared analyzer (NDIR) or coulometric titrator. TOC is determined by measuring the non-purgeable organic carbon (NPOC), as the total carbon (TC) after inorganic carbon (IC) removal. Avoiding the IC removal, it is possible to obtain the TC, if desired. TOC combustion oxidation can easily be expanded to include the determination of TN.

# 3.1.3 Microbial analysis

Untreated (CTRL) and treated samples were diluted in Maximum Recovery Diluent (MRD) and decimal dilutions were analyzed using the drop plate technique [69] on Brain Heart Infusion agar (Oxoid). The plates were incubated for 24 h at 37 °C (*Enterococcus* spp., *E. coli* and *S. Enteritidis*) and at 30 °C (*Pseudomonas* spp.).

# 3.1.4 Other instruments

Instruments, such as High-Performance Liquid Chromatography - High Resolution Mass Spectrometry (HPLC-HRMS) and Gas Chromatography - Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS), may be applied towards the screening and measurement of several micropollutants contained in the WW flows and their qualitative assessments through the pre-injection of standard solution used as a reference of concentration [70], [71]. Samples were injected directly in the HPLC-HRMS instrument. The analysis was performed through a 1200 series capillary pumps and autosampler and a XBridge C18 3,5  $\mu$ m (100 x 2,1 mm) column, using an Orbitrap Q Exactive MS. The identification of the substances was made by comparing MS spectra with the NIST14 library (when available) or by manual search on the ChemSpider database. As regarding the GC-MS system, samples (5 mL) were analyzed by exposing SPME fibers inside the vials, and using the Agilent 5975 MSD, with standard EI source, positive ions (EI+). The GC column was a Varian CP Select 624, 60 m x 320  $\mu$ m x 1.8  $\mu$ m, with a 1,2 mL/min of helium flow. The oven program was set at 40 °C for 1 min, then 10 °C/min to 250 °C for 2 min.

A Horiba Laser scattering particle size distribution analyzer LA-950 (measurement range: 1 nm to 5000 nm) was used to get the dimensional distribution of TSS present in PEff samples. The instrument employs laser diffraction as the optical system to obtain particle size distribution (expressed as volume percentage).

Inductively Coupled Plasma - Atomic Emission Spectrometry (ICP- AES) is an emission spectrophotometric technique, exploiting the fact that excited electrons emit energy at a given wavelength as they return to ground state after excitation by high temperature Argon Plasma. This technique works on the principle that all elements emit energy only at specific wavelengths which is related to their atomic character. When the electrons come back from excited state to the ground state, a unique energy transfer occurs depending upon the electronic configuration of the orbitals of elements [72]. This analytical technique is useful for the determination of heavy metals in aqueous samples.

### 3.2 Sonozone equipment: laboratory scale

Initially, the processes were singularly tested and calibrated, setting the mechanisms and performances. The ultrasonic bench-top equipment was firstly tested in discontinuous mode and then with continuous cycles. Unlikely, the ozone bench-top system was designed for a semi-continuous application. Discontinuous or continuous is intended as the fluid inflow (air or water) ruled, respectively, by an automatic pump or a human repeatable operation. The peristaltic pump (Cellai Perinox SF3, 230 V, 80 W, 1,6 x 1,6 3R) was used to regulate the WW stream, with a flowrate ranging from 2,5 to 25 L/h.

#### 3.2.1 Ultrasound processor: calibration and operating conditions

An ultrasonic processor UIP 250 (Hieschler Ultrasonics, Teltow, Germany), 250 W maximum power, equipped with a 24 kHz ultrasonic transducer having a BS24 titanium probe (22 mm diameter) was used (Fig. 3-a). The treatments were carried out at 20% of the maximum frequency amplitude, which corresponded to 4,8 kHz of working frequency and a mean absorbed power of 74 W (discontinuous mode) and 62 W (continuous mode).

In the calibration phase, a linear correlation between the sonication time (5 - 600 s) and the measured UV absorbance, at a fixed wavelength of 355 nm of a standardize KI solution, was observed for different amplitudes (20%, 40%, 60%, 80% and 100%) of the US device. A similar linear correlation emerged between sonication time and pump flows, useful to select the 3 different sonication continuous retention times (RT). The chosen amplitude of 20% gave the highest linearity

 $(R^2 > 0.99)$  among the various tested amplitude values, together with the reduced energy need. Low frequencies gave the possibility not to generate an uncontrolled heat increasing during the tests, thus reducing the power absorbed. The ultrasonic bench-top equipment was firstly tested in discontinuous mode, employing a movable glass reactor (200 mL). Then, once the calibration was complete, the metal reactor, 190 mL, was employed (Fig. 3-a). The reactor was equipped with a water-cooling mantel, to eventually keep the temperature at (20 ± 2) °C during the tests. The WW inflow inside this US reactor is from the bottom part. This value was selected to be consistent with the mean WW temperature in the selected WWTP.

Three sonication times were selected: 5, 10 and 30 s. These treatment times were chosen after energy considerations and the necessity of a subsequently combination with the ozonation process. Further details will be described in the chapter conclusions.



Figure 3-a: US laboratory reactor

# 3.2.2 Ozone generator: calibration and operating conditions

An ozone generator C-Lasky CL-010-DT (AirTree Ozone Technology Co., Sijhih City, Taiwan) was used to treat each WW sample (Fig 3-b). The ozone was produced through the generator from the air sucked from the external environment. Pressurized air or pure oxygen were not utilized as an inlet for the ozone production due to the higher costs, compared to their performances. During the treatment, ozone was introduced directly into the sample (2 - 2,5 L/min of air, 1 - 1,5 mg/L dissolved ozone) through a glass tube immersed in the sample for its entire height.

The ozonation system was assembled in semi-continuous mode (continuous in relation to the gasozone flow and discontinuous in relation to WW). The 60 mm diameter glass column (400 mm tall, 1 L max volume, 800 mL treated volume) contained a glass fine porous bottom diffuser to introduce ozone in the reactor, letting it dissolve while reaching the surface. Two washing bottles in series, containing a KI solution [73], trapped the residual gaseous O<sub>3</sub> at the outlet of the reactor. All ozonation tests were conducted introducing the volume of the sonicated PEff in the reactor under constant room temperature ( $20 \pm 1$  °C) and neutral pH (7,0 ± 0,5) conditions. Ozone gas production and flowrates were calibrated and monitored with respect to the iodometric method 2350-E [74]. Furthermore, a remarkable calibration needed for any ozone application was done through the Indigo colorimetric method (4500-O<sub>3</sub> B) to assess the maximum dissolved ozone concentration evaluation in tap water [66]. An average absorbed power of 135 W emerged from the laboratory tests.

Four ozonation times were selected: 60, 120, 300 and 600 s. These treatment times were chosen after energy considerations and in order to be applicable with the pilot scale reactor that will be additionally tested in the future. Further details will be described in the chapter conclusions.



Figure 3-b: Laboratory scale ozone generator and reactors

# 3.2.3 Hybrid US + O3: design and treatment times



The laboratory sonozone setup was built as showed in Figure 3-c.

Figure 3-c: Combined laboratory sonozone system setup

The two branches were connected in series: a pump withdrew the sample and let it circulate in the sonication system. The retention time was controlled with the pump flow. The outflow from the ultrasound vessel was manually poured into the ozone tank where the gas is introduced through a bottom diffuser, for a known duration. The sample gathered from the ozonation vessel was the outcome of the overall treatment. Pre-sonicated WW samples were measured with the 2350-E method after the O<sub>3</sub> employment [74]. The residual ozone was captured in the reactor B (KI trap). The combination of US and O<sub>3</sub> treatments are tested in the following reported in Table 3-1:

US\O₃	0 s	60 s	120 s	300 s	600 s
0 s	US_0*O₃_0 (Not treated)	US_0*O₃_60 (only O₃)	US_0*O <sub>3</sub> _120 (only O <sub>3</sub> )	US_0*O <sub>3</sub> _300 (only O <sub>3</sub> )	O₃_600 (only O₃)
5 s	US_5*0₃_0 (only US)	US_5*O₃_60	US_5*O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_5*O <sub>3</sub> _300	US_5*O₃_600
10 s	US_10*0₃_0 (only US)	US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _60	US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _300	US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _600
30 s	US_30*0₃_0 (only US)	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _60	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _300	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _600

Table 3-1: Combination of US and O<sub>3</sub> tests - labels

In the following chapters, the combination will be labelled as in Table 3-1.
### 3.3 Sonozone equipment: pilot scale

The pilot scale laboratory tests should be intended as the passage from a semi-continuous laboratory scale (less than 1 L) to a continuous pilot plant (PP) (around 50 L), in order to be able to treat  $0.5 - 1 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}$ , running continuously, as a further step of the proposed agricultural reuse (Fig. 3-d).



#### Figure 3-d: Pilot plant setup

Herein, the WW sample is pumped inside the PP with a pre-determined flow rate. Firstly, the sample is subjected to the US action, adopting the same US reactor described in the laboratory scale section. Then the pretreated WW is injected into the bigger reactor (around 50 L) and processed through the ozone flow. The WW and the ozone are both entering from the central bottom part of the main reactor, through different inlets. The process duration is based on the pump flow and previously fixed. As any similar works was found in literature, the treatment duration was based on the filling time of the internal column; based on it, the total process time will be calculated. Moreover, the chosen ozone retention time could not be excessively short due to the limited capacity of the ozone to be dissolved and the higher turbulences developed. In the same way, it could not be excessive to allow treating the  $0.5 - 1 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}$ . So, the decision was to keep the duration of the flow in the internal cylinder approximatively around 10 minutes. Then, while saturated, from the upper part of the reactor the residual undissolved ozone was collected inside a KI trap and the fully treated WW was

gathered in a reactor. An initial calibration for the dissolved ozone was performed and all the instruments employed were the same as done in the laboratory tests (pump, US generator and ozonator). The materials, hydrodynamic properties and ozone dissolution rates were assessed as follows.

### 3.3.1 Materials

Dimension are referred to Fig. 3-e and 3-f, the components to Fig. 3-g.





Figure 3-e: Pilot plant column heights

Figure 3-f: Pilot plant columns diameters



Figure 3-g: Pilot plant components

The main reactor, around 50 L of internal volume and 1 m height, was built with Plexiglas cylinders of different height, nylon supports at the top and at the bottom where the columns are locked in. The height of the column was designed in order to let the ozone act for a longer time on the organic targets. Iron screwable bars, circular seals and plastic taps were needed. The geometrical characteristics of the columns are:

1: 64,5 cm effective height and 74 cm diameter, approximatively 3 L volume. Locked on the bottom support;

2: 85 cm effective height and 92 cm diameter. Insert to maintain the pressure in the internal column. Locked on the upper support;

3: 68,5 cm effective height and 154 cm diameter, approximatively 10 L volume. Locked on the bottom support;

4: 97 cm effective height and 240 cm diameter, approximatively 33 L volume. Locked on both supports.

The reactor was arranged as described, with concentric cylinders locked on the nylon supports (upper support 5A, bottom support 5B). Apposite holes were created in the supports in order to have inlet and outlet spots for the gaseous and liquid flows. The chosen materials for the structure are well-known ozone-resistant materials. They could excellently resist to a solution rich in ozone. A flexible pierced black pipe was used as an ozone diffuser (6). Furthermore, ozone compatible silicon pipes of different lengths were used (7A). Silicon tubes were equally employed for the WW flow, only having a larger diameter (7B).

#### 3.3.2 Operations

The WW circulates into the reactor (Fig. 3-h) through a one-inch hole in the column "a". The pumped flow reaches the upper central border of the column "a" and the stream flows down to column "b", executing the same passages until column "c". At the bottom of column "b" and "c" two different one-inch holes may be used for the WW outfall. The ozone is introduced through an air diffuser pipe from the bottom of both columns "a" and "b". The accomplishing of the dissolution of the whole produced ozone into the WW sample is the main target of this kind of flowing system. However, a partial amount of ozone will remain undissolved, being expelled through the hole placed in the upper part of the column "c" and collected in a KI trap. Another emergency upper exit hole is located in the upper ceiling of the column "b", usually sealed.



Figure 3-h: Pilot plant flow scheme

To sum up, the WW is injected into the reactor only from column "a"; unlikely, the ozone is split in two flows and introduced from column "a" and "b" continuously. Generally, the purpose of the reactor is to let the ozone and the WW to stay in contact as much as possible, then the preferred exit for the WW is at the bottom of column "c". The ideal movement of the WW and ozone inside the reactor is as a plug flow. Diameters and heights of the columns are reported in Fig. 3-e and 3-f.

### 3.4 Microbial in-depth assessment

The bench-top instruments utilized during the microbial in-depth study were the same US and  $O_3$  above-described. Air flows and frequencies were maintained the same, however the treatment times were changed, based on the indicator pathogen. For each US test, 200 mL of spiked WW were placed under the sonication probe, discontinuity in a glass sterilized reactor, for 5, 10, 30, 60, 90, 180, 300, 450, or 600 s in a bath with water recirculation to maintain the temperature at about 23 °C. The samples were named US\_5, US\_10, US\_30, US\_60, US\_90, US\_180, US\_300, US\_450, US\_600, where the number corresponded to the time (s) of ultrasound treatment. Ozonation was carried out for 30, 60, 120, 240, 360, 480, 600, 750, and 900 s; samples were labeled as  $O_3_30$ ,  $O_3_60$ ,  $O_3_120$ ,  $O_3_240$ ,  $O_3_360$ ,  $O_3_480$ ,  $O_3_600$ ,  $O_3_750$ ,  $O_3_900$ , where the number refers to the duration time (s) of the treatment. In the last step, spiked WWs were treated with US and  $O_3$  applied one after the other. Four levels of treatment with US (30, 90, 300 and 600 s) and two of  $O_3$  (60 and 120 s for *Pseudomonas* spp., 30 and 60 s for *Enterococcus* spp., 15 and 30 s for *E. coli*, and 30 and 45 s for *S*. Enteritidis) were applied, resulting in eight different treatments for each pool. Treatments

were labeled using the name of the US treatment and the ozone treatment separated by an asterisk. Accordingly, treatment of US for 30 s followed by ozone for 60 s was named  $US_30*O_3_60$ , and so on.

The WW samples, before each test, were filtered with gauze to remove coarse suspended particles, and then sterilized at 121 °C for 15 min. *Pseudomonas* spp., *E. Coli, S.* Enteritidis and *Enterococcus* spp., previously isolated from urban WW, were used to spike the sterilized samples. Before each test, strains were separately grown overnight in 33 mL of BHI at 30 °C (*Pseudomonas*) or 37 °C (*E. coli, Enterococcus* and *Salmonella*). After the laboratory experiments, the treated samples were plated on BHI agar (Oxoid), the microbial cell count was executed through the drop-plate method [69]. Hence, the plates were incubated for 24 h at a fixed temperature (37 °C *Enterococcus* spp., *E. coli* and *S.* Enteritidis and 30 °C *Pseudomonas* spp.). All trials were carried out in at least two biological replicates.

Moreover, for samples treated only with ozone, viable counts versus exposure time were modelled according to the Weibull + Tail distribution shown in *Eq. 1* using the Excel add-in GInaFiT [75]:

$$N = \log_{10} \left[ \left( 10^{\log_{10}(N_0)} - 10^{\log_{10}(N_{res})} \right) \times 10^{\left( -\left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right)^p \right)} + 10^{\log_{10}(N_{res})} \right]$$
 (Eq. 1)

where N represents the microbial concentration (CFU/mL); N<sub>0</sub> is the initial concentration (CFU/mL); N<sub>res</sub> the residual microbial population (CFU/mL); t expresses the time (s); p indicates a shape parameter (> 1 for concave curves or < 1 for convex curves) and  $\delta$  serve as time required to obtain the first decimal reduction (s). Moreover, the model provides the 4D value, i.e., the time required to obtain 4 logarithmic reductions of N<sub>0</sub>.

### 3.5 Economic assessment

The achievement of a reliable technology, suitable for any industrial application, have to possess two main characteristics: technical feasibility and economic advantages. In order to assess the benefits of the sonozone process, an economic interpretation is given.

#### 3.5.1 General calculation

Starting from the single consumptions, the absorbed energy varies among the US and  $O_3$  utilization, likewise applying different treatment times. The average requirement of energy (E, Wh) was obtained through *Eq. 2*:

$$E = P t \qquad (Eq. 2)$$

The parameter t indicates the time, expressed in hours (h).

All the time, expressed in seconds, are converted in hours. Moreover, the data elaboration has to be referred to the single volume (V) unit (m<sup>3</sup>).

In general, a basic comparison between the enhanced removal rate of the sonozone process and its augment in the energy consumption has been made. Considering an Italian case study, the standard purchasing prize for a kWh ( $C_{\text{E}}$ ) is set at 23,4 cE/kWh [76]. To estimate the annual energy consumption cost, the processes were considered as continuously running.

#### 3.5.2 Feasibility towards a microbial recovery: the in-depth method

Herein, an in-depth method for the energy and cost assessment towards a microbial recovery will be presented. The energy savings and the cost reduction are related and expresses as follows.

#### 3.5.2.1 Energy savings:

The combined US and O<sub>3</sub> measured energy consumptions per cubic meter ( $E_{US \cdot O_3}$ ) are evaluated through the *Eq. 3*:

$$E_{US*O_3} = E_{US} + E_{O_3} = \frac{P_{US} t_{US}}{V} + \frac{P_{O_3} t_{O_3}}{V}$$
 (Eq. 3)

Herein,  $P_{US}$  and  $t_{US}$  indicate respectively the absorbed power of the ultrasound generator (kW) for a given time (h). In the same way,  $P_{O_3}$  is the absorbed power of the ozone generator during the  $t_{O_3}$ application. V (m<sup>3</sup>) is the maximum volume treated in one hour.

Then, the identified energy consumption per meter cube  $E_{0_3}^*$  will be defined as follows:

$$E_{O_3}^{*} = E_{O_3} + \Delta E_{O_3}$$
 (Eq. 4)

In particular,

$$E_{O_3} = \frac{P_{O_3} t_{O_3}}{V}$$
 (Eq. 5)

and

$$\Delta E_{O_3} = \frac{P_{O_3} \,\Delta t_{O_3}}{V}$$
 (Eq. 6)

where  $\Delta t_{O_3}$  is defined as the additional time needed, during an only ozone application, to reach a logarithmic reduction equal to the one obtained after the combined US and O<sub>3</sub> process.  $\Delta t_{O_3}$  was calculated though the identified abatement equation (*Eq. 1*).

For the extent of obtaining the above-mentioned  $E_{O_3}^*$ , the  $\Delta E_{O_3}$  have to be summed with the only O<sub>3</sub> consumption  $E_{O_3}$  (*Eq. 4*).

To assess whether the combined process will be economically convenient, the sonozone energy savings ( $E_{s\%}$ ) were calculated as follows:

$$E_{S\%} = 1 - \frac{E_{US*O_3}}{E_{US} + E_{O_3}^*}$$
 (Eq. 7)

When the  $E_{s\%}$  resulted to be positive, an economic advantage is obtained in a combined application of the processes; otherwise, the performances of the separate processes had a better economic feasibility.

#### 3.5.2.2 Cost reduction:

The cost of the combined sonozone ( $M_{US*O_3}$ ), single US ( $M_{US}$ ) and single identified O<sub>3</sub> ( $M_{O_3*}$ ) treatments were calculated, respectively, through *Eq. 8*, *Eq. 9* and *Eq. 10*:

$$M_{US*O_3} = E_{US*O_3} * C_{\epsilon}$$
 (Eq. 8)  

$$M_{US} = E_{US} * C_{\epsilon}$$
 (Eq. 9)  

$$M_{O_3^*} = E_{O_3}^* * C_{\epsilon}$$
 (Eq. 10)

The total savings are defined through Eq. 11:

$$\Delta M = (M_{O_3^*} + M_{US}) - M_{US*O_3}$$
 (Eq. 11)

The costs are all expressed in €/m<sup>3</sup>.

#### 3.6 Ecotoxicological evaluation

Ecotoxicological and biomonitoring approaches are fundamental to assess both effluent and soil characteristics during fertigation, evaluating practice safety under all aspects (environment, workers, consumers) [77]. This is particularly important in high-quality crop applications or crops that have to be eaten raw when the edible parts come in direct contact with fertigation water [78]. Different methods can be used to biomonitor wastewater effluents, including traditional acute tests (Fish, Daphnia magna and Algae) or in vitro methods (inhibition of enzyme carbonic anhydrase). Soil quality can be assessed by acute and chronic tests, as well as through biomarker analysis [77]. Hazardous compounds need to be carefully monitored when applying RWW strategies: a quantitative chemical risk assessment was proposed as a robust framework to quantify infection/illness probability, allowing to determine the reuse approaches [79].

The chemical risk assessment was performed in-silico, through the VEGA software developed by the "Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri" (IRFMN). The software allows to apply several models, decided by the user, where the chemical compounds are imported and elaborated, returning as an output the complete reports containing the predictions [80]. The chemical information was downloaded from the PubChem online collection and uploaded into the VEGA library. Then, the models for the calculation have to be selected. The available ones are the: Toxicological, Eco-toxicological, Environmental and Physical-Chemical. The output of each

assessment is linked to a reliability given by the software. For the further analysis, exclusively the moderate and good reliability outputs will be considered. The chosen models are:

*Ecotoxicological* - Fish acute (Lethal Concentration causing the death of the 50% of the population - LC50), Fish chronic (highest value for No Observed Effect Concentration - NOEC), Daphnia Magna acute (Effective Concentration causing a certain effect for the 50% of the population - EC50), Daphnia Magna chronic (NOEC), Algae acute (EC50) and Algae chronic (NOEC);

Environmental – Persistence in soils and water (quantitative IRFMN model);

*Physical-Chemical* – Water solubility.

Different ecotoxicological test were performed in order to have a reference for different organisms, like vertebrates (fish), invertebrates (Daphnia Magna) and plants (algae). Daphnia Magna and algae regularly possess a higher sensitivity towards the acute and chronic assessment than the fish [81]. Related to the toxicities, the persistence in soils and water could enrich the value. Often, toxic compounds may be long-lasting in different environments, provoking deficiencies even at a very low concentration [82]. Being in contact with soil and water, the human nourishment could be exposed to the pollution of persistent compounds. Some compounds could be easily biodegradable, half-life (HL) reduction < 30 days, however further chemicals may last for years or decades [83]. Moreover, the solubility in water indicates the amount of that specific substance that can dissolve in water. Higher capacity of dissolution in water means that the compound would be rapidly absorbed by the organisms, whereas an almost insoluble compound may settle or filter in the water layers.

The compounds that will be presented in the ecotoxicological assessment are hazardous volatile and persistent chemicals, such as aldehydes, alcohols, pesticides, health care and cleaning products, pharmaceuticals and more.

### 3.7 Experimental repeatability

The entire laboratory experience was based on specific tests repeated multiple times, executed within 48 h after the sampling or the treatment. As a consolidated practice in the field, the sample was tested two or three times (depending on the available volume) using the same characterization method. Additional samples were taken at different times, assuring that the environmental conditions were similar to the previous samples (i.e. weather conditions, time of the day, external interferences in the WWTP inflow, etc.). Generally, the results are evaluated and reported in figures as mean value (the bigger bar) ± standard deviation (the error bar). The reproducibility of the tests, meant as the ability to obtain similar results when conducting the experiment in analogous conditions, and the repeatability, the replication of an experiment based on the described methods,

depend on the WW inflow [84] considered as a sample (urban and industrial may vary different logarithmic units of concentrations). The most significant parameters that must constantly be under control during the experimental evaluation were the liquid temperature, the ozonation time, the ozone airflow, the liquid pumped flow, and the ultrasonic amplitude. pH, despite being a major parameter, was considered constant in an urban WW sample.

#### 3.8 Chapter conclusions

In order to define the sonozone efficiency, a series of physico-chemical and biological parameters were analyzed previously to the beginning of the processes, comparing them to the post treatment ones. For most cases, the experimental assessment relies on several standardized spectrophotometric measurements. HPLC-HRMS and GC-MS tests, microbial strain count on plates and elemental analysis are additional employed characterization processes. Before the examination, each sample was filtered through a 0,45 µm filter to prevent residual particulate interferences during the successive measurements (except for the TSS assessment). The results, that will be shown in the next chapter, represent the dissolved portion of the compound remained after filtration, such as dissolved COD, dissolved TN, and so on. Eventually, dilutions were required.

US treatments were carried out at 4,8 kHz of working frequency. During the treatment, ozone was introduced directly into the reactor, containing the sample. The ozone generator worked at 2 - 2,5 L/min of air, corresponding to a 1 - 1,5 mg/L of dissolved ozone. Three sonication and four ozone durations were selected. The decision to maintain a US duration under the 30 s was related to three main aspects: the energy consumption, the heating of the WW and the difficulties to combine the US with the following ozone treatment. Longer treatments would have caused an increase in the liquid temperature even above 50 °C, not being directly exposable to an ozone process. The possible remedies are an introduction of a cooling flow (possible in the US reactor chamber), involving unavoidable considerable energy consumptions, or letting the sample rest at a room temperature and cool down slowly, entailing an impossibility to perform a continuous flow between the combined treatments. These considerations have been made since the beginning of the hybrid US and  $O_3$  process.  $O_3$  is a strong oxidizer that has great disinfectant activity, which finds wide application in many fields including medical, agricultural, marine, and food to inactivate freely suspended and surface-attached microorganisms [85], [86]. However, the maintenance of a controlled temperature and pH is mandatory. The main consideration is, while working with a PEff from an urban WWTP, that the range of maximum and minimum temperature and pH along the seasons is limited. Despite having registered an external air temperature of - 2,5 °C, the WW showed

a minimum value around 11 °C [87]. So, the range of thermal differences between the cold season (10 - 14 °C) and the summer (18 - 22 °C) kept close to 10 °C. Values can slightly change in far-located WWTPs, in relation of the P.E. number. In accordance, pH is essentially constant during the year. Consequently, the experiments were performed without the requirement of cooling processes or acidification, avoiding time-consuming pre-processes and additional monetary efforts. Furthermore, several recent literature studies have reported ozone applications, especially during hybrid AOPs, associated with more than 10 minutes durations [88]. However, the ozone concentrations (30 - 1000 mg/L) are not comparable with the present. Again, similar concentrations were considered for the pharmaceutical mineralization from WW flows [89] and for the degradation of the organics [90]. Performing the ozonation alone for more than 10 minutes would not allow to treat 0,5 - 1 m<sup>3</sup>/day through the PP reactor, resulting in not being fruitful for the project. Thus, the four tested ozone duration were selected as shorter or equal than 10 minutes.

The hybrid treatment consists in the connection in series of US and O<sub>3</sub>. Furthermore, the laboratoryscale hybrid process was studied and the scaling up of the system was accomplished. The PP, intended as the transition from a semi-continuous laboratory scale (less than 1 L) to a continuous PP (around 50 L), was designed in order to be able to treat 0,5 - 1 m<sup>3</sup>/day, running unstopped, as a part of the proposed agricultural reuse procedure. The PP structure is made by Plexiglass cylinders, nylon supports and silicon pipes that allowed to obtain a plug flow behavior during the pilot scale process.

In recent studies the sonozone treatment has demonstrated promising outcomes in WW treatment, showing a synergistic effect of US and O<sub>3</sub> thus enhancing the inactivation of coliforms, *Escherichia coli*, and enterococci of either method used alone [91], [92]. However, additional data are missing for other bacteria, e.g., *Salmonella* and *Pseudomonas*, which are frequently present in WW and are indicative of fecal contamination or potential regrowth [93], [94]. Furthermore, apart from general considerations, there are no detailed studies in which a careful assessment of the economic feasibility of the combined treatment has been made, which is a prerequisite for any full-scale application. The microbial in-depth assessment will quantitively evaluate the ozonation alone abatement rate and compare it to the sonozone efficiency. Moreover, a detailed economic assessment will be executed, balancing the single and hybrid removal rates with the related energy consumptions. This passage is mandatory for an utter understanding of the RWW fertigation safe reuse. The equations for the estimation of the energy savings and costs were reported.

Eco-toxicological, environmental and physico-chemical approaches are fundamental to assess both effluent and soil characteristics before the fertigation reuse. The microbial risk assessment was performed in-silico, through the VEGA software. The software allows to apply several models, suitable for the analysis of volatile and persistent compounds.

# 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The relevance of the hybrid US and O<sub>3</sub> technology is related to the strong cavitation effect that enhance the disinfectant action given by the ozone [61], even maintaining the nutrients after the oxidation [95]. It was demonstrated that the seasonal variation of the WWTP flows temperature was maintained under 10 °C of excursion and in a near-neutral range of pH. Not needing any adjustment in the PEff initial conditions before the experiments, the sonozone appeared to be efficient in the initial preparation, compared to other complex AOPs preparations. The contribution given by the possible reuse of the RWW in the agricultural sector may be remarkable towards the circular economy perspective, reducing both chemical fertilizer and freshwater supplies in the crop's lifecycle.

As a reminder, from here on the processes are labelled as US\_5 for the US duration 5 s,  $O_3_60$  for 60 s of ozone treatment, and so on. The combination of the series and the colors in the figures will give the sonozone combination, such as the US\_5 bar considered in the  $O_3_60$  s treatment have to be considered as the hybrid process developed by 5 s of US pretreatment and the 60 s of  $O_3$  action, US\_5\*O\_3\_60.

## 4.1 Sonozone: laboratory-scale semi-continuous treatment

The wastewater collected for the laboratory tests was a primary effluent (the inflow of the biological treatment) from a municipal WWTP located in Udine, a city in the north-east of Italy (100.000 P.E.). All the bench-top experiments were accomplished in the 48 hours following the PEff sampling from the plant. Comparing the PEff with the WWTP inflow, a percentage of COD and TSS was removed through the settlement occurred during the initial sedimentation. To be more precise, an average abatement of the 20 - 25% of total COD and 50 - 60% of TSS from an urban WWTP was observe [52], [96].

The PEff characterization was reported in Table 4-1:

Parameters and unit of measurement	RWW threshold
рН (-)	7,10 ± 0,20
TSS (mg/L)	143,50 ± 2,10
TOC (mg/L) *	32,08 ± 1,85
COD (mg/L)	146,00 ± 4,12
TN (mg/L)	42,80 ± 2,34
Ammonia (mg/L)	30,50 ± 2,11
TP (mg/L)	5,30 ± 0,47
Formaldehydes (mg/L) **	0,33 ± 0,07
Anionic surfactants (mg/L) **	3,70 ± 0,07
E. Coli (CFU/100 mL)	(1,40 ± 0,27) x 10 <sup>6</sup>
Salmonella (CFU/100 mL)	Not present
Potassium (mg/L) ***	16,93 ± 0,25
Calcium (mg/L) ***	53,38 ± 0,79
Magnesium (mg/L) ***	20,69 ± 0,20
Enterococcus spp. (CFU/100 mL) ***	$(1,09 \pm 0,21) \times 10^{6}$

Table 4-1: PEff characterization

\* TOC is adopted instead of BOD<sub>5</sub>, the directive permits it when a demonstrated relation exists between these two parameters;

\*\* Substituting the parameters of, respectively, Total Aldehydes and Total Surfactants;

\*\*\* Additional parameters not reported in any regulation.

It could be noted that the primary WW parameters concentrations (pH, TSS, COD, TOC, TN, TP, E. Coli) were slightly lower than the mean urban WWTPs concentrations reported in Table 2-1. The indicators of Total Aldehydes and Surfactants were substituted with Formaldehyde and Anionic Surfactants, respectively. The pathogens, abundantly measured in the wastewater, are particularly harmful for the human health. As an indicator of the microbiological water quality, *Enterococcus* spp. was also included. *Salmonella* was not traceable in the untreated WW. Moreover, potassium, calcium and magnesium were evaluated during the experimental campaign to validate the capacity of the ozone to not reduce meaningful nutrients for the plant growth. All tests were reproduced in double or triple.

#### 4.1.1 Consumptions and concentrations

As a first step for the assessment of the hybrid US and  $O_3$  performances, the percentage of ozone consumed during the whole treatment was carried out. Three sonication pretreatments (5, 10 and 30 s) and four different ozonation times (60, 120, 300 and 600 s) were tested. The ozone consumption rate is presented in Fig. 4-a. It is possible to clearly define an augment in the ozone consumption efficiency after the US pretreatment, compared to the sole ozone. Moreover, longer

US applications corresponded to higher percentages of consumed ozone. 30 s of US could lead to a mean 30% of additional consumed ozone.



Figure 4-a: Ozone consumption rate

Then, the dissolved ozone (mg/L) was evaluated in order to set the level of concentration in pure water (method  $4500-O_3$  B, Standard methods). The results showed a mean concentration around 1,17 mg/L, stable along the treatment times (Fig. 4-b).



Figure 4-b: Dissolved ozone concentration in pure water

## 4.1.2 Effects on solids

From Figure 4-c it is possible to observe a significant drop in the concentration of TSS inside the WW sample after the treatment.



Figure 4-c: TSS residual percentage

The sole US action was mildly able to reduce the TSS content, less than the 20% for US\_30 only. Percentages of abatement of more than the 60% were observed after 60 s of ozone, reaching the 85% with the maximum duration. For longer ozonation processes, the US pretreatment was not valuable due to the higher capacity of suspended solids removal given by the only ozone. However, from US\_0\*O<sub>3</sub>\_60 and US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_60 was possible to clearly see a 15% of enhanced removal efficiency when the pretreatment is applied.

Moreover, an in-depth particle size analysis was performed in order to define the cavitation capacity in the reduction of the suspended solids diameter.



Figure 4-d: Ultrasounds particle size distribution



Figure 4-e: Ozone particle size distribution



Figure 4-f: Combination with O<sub>3</sub>\_120 particle size distribution

As a conclusion, the particle size of the WW shifted from hundred-thousand nm to units after the application of 300 and 600 s of ozone (Fig 4-e) or combining at least 5 s of US pretreatment with the 120 s ozonation (Fig 4-f). The diameter's distribution is changing in a limited way in the US only treatment (Fig. 4-d), within the 100 to 3000 nm interval. However, the sole US treatment was not able to reduce markedly the particle size, even after 30 s.

### 4.1.3 Effects on organic matter

Different methods were employed to evaluate the organic matter content. The legislation requires a mandatory analysis on BOD<sub>5</sub> (in this case substituted by TOC) and COD. A relationship between BOD<sub>5</sub> and TOC was obtained appositively for urban WWTP influents: BOD<sub>5</sub> = 1,68\*TOC + 23,7 [97]. The COD assessment was performed in two steps: first the total COD (tCOD) evaluation with the unaltered sample and secondarily the soluble COD (sCOD), after filtering the sample through a 0,45 µm filter.







Figure 4-h: Total COD removal in sonozone tests



Figure 4-i: Soluble COD removal in sonozone tests

The only US pretreatment led to an initial general enhancement of the TOC concentration, not resulting in a more effective combined action toward the abatement during the following ozonation (Fig. 4-g). However, ozone was able to reduce the TOC concentration up to the 30% with 600 s. Instead of TOC, the tCOD reduction (Fig. 4-h) was more marked, linearly reaching the maximum of 60% of reduction (US\_ $10^*O_3_600$ ).

After the application of the US treatment alone, a measurable sCOD increment was observed, even at short sonication times (Fig. 4-i). This outcome could be explained with the physicochemical modification of the mixture during the sonication process that augmented the fraction of soluble organic material. Anyway, differently from the tCOD trend, it is possible to see an augment in the sCOD content also after the ozone application, leading to a non-significant abatement.

Remarkably,  $UV_{254}$  is a standardized and adopted spectrophotometric method to assess the organic matter content [98]. The  $UV_{254}$  decreasing trend was similar to the tCOD (Fig. 4-j). It is possible to conclude that the combination of US and O<sub>3</sub> may result in an additional 10-20% abatement of the organic matter content inside the WW sample, compared to the ozonation alone. Higher removal percentages were found with the shortest US pretreatment duration. The application of the four O<sub>3</sub>\_600 s treatments (Fig. 4-j) shown a reverse trend compared to the rest; probably the spectrophotometric signal was distorted by some remained solids.



Figure 4-j: UV254 removal in sonozone tests

#### 4.1.4 Effects on nutrients

The final purpose of this study is the reuse the nutrients contained inside the wastewater: ozone properties are well-known not to reduce the nitrogen-phosphate content and this is the reason why this process was chosen [95]. The trends of the total measurable N and P are shown in Fig. 4-k and

4-m. The TN analysis confirmed that the sonozone was able to maintain almost the whole content as the untreated sample. A slight augment appeared during the US\_10 treatment alone, due to the free compounds released from the surfaces during the cavitation effect, consistent with previous literature studies [99]. In addition, the soluble nitrogen ammonia content was depicted in Fig. 4-l, presenting the same trend as the TN. The overall nitrogen reduction could be established as lower than the 10%. TP was similarly preserved along the process, single and combined. However, about 25% of phosphate was removed by the processes, compared to the 10% removal of TN. P is a meaningful and a scarce nutrient, mandatory for a plant growth. Recovering the 75% of the P originally present in the raw WW means to strengthen the possibilities of RWW reuse for agriculture.



Figure 4-k: TN removal in sonozone tests



Figure 4-I: Nitrogen ammonia removal in sonozone tests



#### Figure 4-m: TP removal in sonozone tests

Remarkably, for an adequate plant growth also the potassium, calcium and manganese are relevant. The dissolved nutrient concentrations were measured and, comparing the results of the untreated WW with the longest treatment performed during this study (US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_600) it was possible to clearly validate the ozone capacity of maintain these nutrients. The results shown an initial concentration of potassium equal to 16,93 mg/L, calcium of 53,38 mg/L and magnesium corresponding of 20,69 mg/L. After the treatments their concentrations were, respectively, 16,31 mg/L, 52,12 mg/L and 20,11 mg/L, verifying the ozone behavior to keep the nutrients.

### 4.1.5 Effects on microorganisms

The importance of a RWW reuse is not to be harmful for the environment and for the population. So, a complete removal of the pathogens below the regulated thresholds is mandatory. Ozone is a well-known disinfectant, adopted for WW treatment. The US alone shown a negligible effect, no abatement occurred at the above-mentioned low frequency conditions. The application of the combined sonozone treatment shown an aggressive action, thanks to the US pretreatment. Ozone by itself led to a pathogen abatement of one logarithmic unit (Log) after 60 s. The employment of a 30 s of US (US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_60) resulted in more than 3 log. The adoption of 120 s or more of ozone treatment, independently of the US action, led to a complete abatement (> 4 log). This complete abatement has to be intended as a non-capacity of counting the microbial colonies on the plates with the maximal dilution performed. It is possible to conclude that the ozone treatment of 120 s or more is able to remove the pathogens, leading to a concentration surely below the 100 CFU/100 mL. The same behavior was outlined in Fig. 4-n. Enterococcus spp. highlighted a similar removal trend as the *E. Coli.* Starting from a 6-log concentration, 60 s of ozone was enough to remove from one (only ozone) to 3 (coupled with US\_30) logs (Fig. 4-0).



Figure 4-n: E. Coli logarithmic reduction removal in sonozone tests



Figure 4-o: Enterococcus spp. logarithmic reduction removal in sonozone tests

Furthermore, salmonella was absent even in the untreated WW assessment. Being a primary importance aspect, the pathogen abatement will be assessed through an in-depth evaluation in the following sections.

### 4.1.6 Effects on other hazardous pollutants

Formaldehyde was monitored as well, being a well-known ozonation by-product [100]. This compound was present in low concentrations in the untreated sample. An initial abatement was depicted with the only sonication action. In addition, ozone application shown the ability to completely remove the formaldehyde after 120 s of combined application (US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_120) or, without pre-treatment, from 300 s on (Fig. 4-p).



*Figure 4-p: Formaldehyde removal in sonozone tests* 

Furthermore, total surfactants were assessed. Surfactants are defined as chemical compounds capable of reducing the surface tension of liquids or interfaces of liquids, endowed by its

hydrophobic tail and hydrophilic head [101]. They could be divided into three main groups: Anionic (Alkylsulphates, alkylsulphonates, alkylarenesulphonates), Cationic (Alkyltrimethylammonium salts, alkylpyridinium salts) and Non-Ionic (Alkylpolyoxyethylane glycol ethers, alkyphenol ethers).

Anionic surfactants are largely diffused in household uses and industrial applications. Their presence is increasing everyday inside the urban WW flow due to their uncontrolled utilization for the cleaning and washing practices [102]. So, being the main components traceable inside the WW PEff, the total quantity of surfactants will be roughly considered equal to the anionic part. Their treatment removal percentages are reported in Fig. 4-q. The employment of the ozone is clearly a strong surfactant reducer, already at O<sub>3</sub>\_60s. It is possible to define an augment in the percentage of surfactants inside the WW sample after the single applications of US, marking a 40% increment during the only US\_30 pretreatment. This result may be related to the cavitation effect that, breaking the large-surface solids inside the sample, releases more free surfactants. Further assessments have to be performed towards the low frequency US application for the anionic surfactant removal. Moreover, the treatment defines a slightly higher abatement for the 60 and 120 s combined application.



Figure 4-q: Anionic surfactants removal in sonozone tests

#### 4.1.7 Heavy metals and micropollutants assessment

In this paragraph, brief considerations regarding the HMs are given. First of all, their assessment was performed through an ICP instrument. Table 4-2 reports the ministerial directive 185/2003 thresholds (EU legislation still not requires their assessment for the reuse on soils) compared to the untreated influent values. The concentrations from the investigated PEff are all abundantly lower than the limits, confirming its reusability.

Micropollutant	185/2003 reuse threshold	PEff measured value
Aluminum (mg/L)	1	0,014
Boron (mg/L)	1	0,055
Cadmium (mg/L)	0,005	< 0,001
Cobalt (mg/L)	0,05	0,02
Chromium (mg/L)	0,1	< 0,01
Copper (mg/L)	1	0,003
Iron (mg/L)	2	0,075
Manganese (mg/L)	0,2	0,052
Nickel (mg/L)	0,2	0,003
Lead (mg/L)	0,1	< 0,01
Zinc (mg/L)	0,5	< 0,01

Table 4-2: HMs comparison between 185/2003 and actual PEff concentrations

Even the strongest treatment performed (US\_ $30^*O_3_600$ ) shown no capacity of mineralization towards the analyzed HMs, at the current ozone concentrations.

#### 4.1.8 Energy assessment

Concerning the economic aspects, even traditional treatment schemes imply high energy consumption: aeration is one of the main cost items, with up to 71% of total WWTP electricity consumption (0,5-2 kWh/m<sup>3</sup>, depending on treatment technology) [103]. The recovery of the PEff, treated through the sonozone process, could save this amount of employed energy. However, US and O<sub>3</sub>, being well-known energy-consumer processes, have to be assessed on field based on their removal capacity. Table 4-3 reports a basic economic and consumption assessment towards the hybrid employment of US and O<sub>3</sub>. The analysis was performed specifically on the unit of volume (m<sup>3</sup>) and considering no exceeding volumes. The treatment was supposed as continuously running.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Treatment	Treated volume (L)	Specific energy consumption (kWh/m <sup>3</sup> )	Specific electric cost (€/m³)
US_0*O₃_60	0,80	2,81	0,66
US_0*O <sub>3</sub> _120	0,80	5,63	1,32
US_0*O <sub>3</sub> _300	0,80	14,06	3,29
US_0*O <sub>3</sub> _600	0,80	28,13	6,58
US_5*O₃_60	0,80	3,33	0,78
US_5*O₃_120	0,80	6,14	1,44
US_5*O₃_300	0,80	14,58	3,41
US_5*O₃_600	0,80	28,64	6,70
US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _60	0,80	3,84	0,90
US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _120	0,80	6,65	1,56
US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _300	0,80	15,09	3,53
US_10*O <sub>3</sub> _600	0,80	29,15	6,82
US_30*O₃_60	0,80	5,90	1,38
US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _120	0,80	8,71	2,04
US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _300	0,80	17,15	4,01
US_30*O₃_600	0,80	31,21	7,30

Table 4-3: Basic energetic assessment

Despite being huge electric-consumers, the US and O<sub>3</sub> processes may be optimized while designing a full-scale application [104].

### 4.1.9 Literature comparison

The single employment of ultrasounds and ozone for WW treatment was reported several times in literature. However, only a few studies assessed the combined effect of the hybrid US and  $O_3$  processes. These studies presented similarities compared to the execution of the current work, even considering different experimental conditions.

Rossi et al. defined the most similar laboratory conditions to the current work [52]. The WW characteristics and the outputs showed corresponding behaviors, maintaining comparable trends for the pollutant reduction and the nutrient preservation.

Sathishkumar et al. summarized several previous studies regarding the hybrid application of ozone and other AOPs, including ultrasounds [105]. However, longer ozonation times and higher ultrasonic frequencies were employed, thus the comparison with the current work is challenging. Moreover, the combined US and O<sub>3</sub> process was performed simultaneously inside a single reactor, differently from the sequential treatment supposed during the current study.

Mahamuni and Adewuyi mainly focused on the cost estimation of the different AOP treatments [106]. US and  $O_3$  combination resulted to be one of the most convenient for the organic matter oxidation, above all the AOPs analyzed, consistent to the results obtained in the current work.

Furthermore, significant enhancements in the contaminant removal rates were obtained during the application of the hybrid process compared to the ozonation alone [107].

The robust literature analysis, describing the single treatments, was adopted as a reference during the initial part of the work, and allowed to design the laboratory experiments with the aim to increase the removal efficiency and optime costs. The novelty of the current study was the transition from the concept of a purely contaminant abatement to the adoption of these AOPs for a combined reduction of organic pollutants and maintenance of the nutrients contained inside the WW, for an agricultural reuse perspective.

## 4.2 Sonozone: microbial kinetic modelling and cost-effectiveness

The present section aims to investigate the microbial inactivation potential of US and ozonation alone, to recover the WW from a microbiological point of view. To this aim, sterile urban WW was spiked with four microbial species widely present in WW, namely *Pseudomonas* spp., *E. coli*, *Enterococcus* spp. and *S*. Enteritidis. The concentrations of the chemical compounds of the WW used in this study are similar to typical urban treatment plant inflows, as reported in other studies [19], [108]. The US frequency and the ozone concentration were kept consistent with the laboratory-scale experience.

## 4.2.1 Effect of US on microbial viability

During the experimental campaign, spiked WW was treated for times ranging from 5 to 600 s (at a controlled temperature), and in the case of the longer treatment only a slight decrease in microbial viability was observed, which was not statistically significant. Sonication for 600 s resulted in *Pseudomonas, Enterococcus, E. coli* and *S.* Enteritidis removal of 56%, 38%, 51% and 60%, respectively. Our results agree with previously reported data, that *E. coli* showed a log reduction lower than one even for longer (60 min) and more consuming treatments (100 W) [91]. Similar reductions were reported for other Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [92]. Instead, up to 7 log reductions in the total viable count of bacteria and yeasts could be achieved using high-frequency (850 kHz) US or when US treatment was applied without temperature control, allowing a temperature of about 90 °C to be reached at the end of the treatment [109]–[111].

### 4.2.2 Effects of ozone treatment

Spiked WWs were submitted to ozonation treatments, with a mean gaseous concentration of 1,46 mg/L and treatment times between zero and 900 s. The inactivation kinetics were assessed through the implementation of the experimental outvalues into the GInaFiT software [75]. For all microbial targets, the viable count decreased by increasing the treatment time. A convex inactivation curve followed by a tail in ozonated WWs suggests that at the very beginning of the treatment all target cells possess the same resistance, and a sub-resistant population might exist indicated by the

presence of a tail. For all microbial targets, the main inactivation occurred in the first minutes of treatment. As an example, the *Pseudomonas* spp. inactivation in spiked WW by the ozonation treatment was reported Fig. 4-r.



Figure 4-r: Pseudomonas spp. inactivation (Log CFU/mL) in spiked WW by ozonation treatments; dotted line represents data fitted by the Albert and Mafart (2003) model.

*S*. Enteritidis was the most sensitive organism, whose 90% of cells resulted no more viable after just about 6 s of ozonation. *Pseudomonas* spp. and *Enterococcus* spp. proved to be the most tough microbial targets to inactivate through ozonation. Enterococci are opportunistic pathogens of enteric origin, and they are very resistant to environmental stresses, since they could modulate gene expression, which involves a metabolic reprogramming and a cellular state of increased resistance to many stressful conditions. Compared to other fecal microorganisms, Enterococci survive longer in aquatic environments, even after O<sub>3</sub> treatment [112], [113]. The data indicate that the ozonation treatments carried out in this study were found to be very effective in reducing the viability of microbial targets frequently present in WW, that are considered in most cases indicators of contamination of fecal origin. This suggests the great potential of ozonation for the microbiological recovery of WW.

#### 4.2.3 Effects of sonozone treatment

In the next phase of the study, ultrasound and ozone were sequentially applied on spiked WWs. Four US treatments were applied (i.e., US\_30, US\_90, US\_300 and US\_600 s). As for ozone, two treatments were chosen for each microbial genus based on the time estimated to get the first decimal reduction and 4 log reductions in the initial viable count. Thus, O<sub>3</sub>\_60 and O<sub>3</sub>\_120 for *Pseudomonas* spp., O<sub>3</sub>\_30 and O<sub>3</sub>\_60 for *Enterococcus* spp., O<sub>3</sub>\_15 and O<sub>3</sub>\_30 for *E. coli*, and O<sub>3</sub>\_30 and O<sub>3</sub>\_45 for *S*. Enteritidis were selected, respectively.



Figure 4-s: Log reduction of Pseudomonas spp. viability following US treatments (light grey bars), O<sub>3</sub> treatments (white bars) for 60 s (a) and 120 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars). Asterisks mean a statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination.

Fig. 4-s shows the reductions in viability resulting from treatments with US and O<sub>3</sub> applied individually and in succession on *Pseudomonas* spp. Most of the combined treatments allowed to significantly reduce the microbial viability compared to the sum of the single treatments, which suggested a synergistic effect of them. Except for the US\_600 followed by O<sub>3</sub>\_60 treatment, the increased loss of viability in the combined treatments varied between 0,36 and 1,63 Log CFU/mL. The most effective treatment was US\_600 followed by O<sub>3</sub>\_120, which killed 5,58 Log CFU/mL of *Pseudomonas* spp. Overall, despite the reduced loss of viability following the US treatment alone, O<sub>3</sub> treatments applied just after US proved to be very effective against *Pseudomonas*. Vice versa, a combined treatment with US and O<sub>3</sub> reduced the viability by 99%. US, although ineffective even for a long time, can transform a portion of the microbial population into a VBNC (Viable But Not Culturable) status, which means an intermediate status between live and dead cells [91]. In the case of Gram-negative bacteria, US is firstly effective on the outer membrane, subsequently, the treatment becomes multi-target, involving the cell wall, the cytoplasmic membrane, and the internal structure [114]. Results obtained in this study represent an important finding as *Pseudomonas* is one of the main contaminants of WW [115].



Figure 4-t: Log reduction of Enterococcus spp. viability following US treatments (light grey bars), O<sub>3</sub> treatments (white bars) for 30 s (a) and 60 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars).

As for *Enterococcus* spp., the only treatments that proved capable of increasing the loss of viability respect to pure O<sub>3</sub> treatments were with US for 300 s and 600 s followed by O<sub>3</sub> for 30 s, in which increased loss of viability was 0,57 and 0,81 Log CFU/mL, respectively (Fig. 4-t). Unexpectedly, the combined treatments with O<sub>3</sub> for 60 s did not boost the killing effect respect to O<sub>3</sub> only. It could indicate that the microbial response to US may involve not only structural damage but also differential gene expression. It has been evidenced that, when bacteria are subjected to an US treatment below the bacterial tolerance threshold, mechano-transduction may occur, which activates the bacterial stress response [116]. The application of low-frequency ultrasound treatments, such as in this study, can induce a downregulation in the genes involved in the citric acid cycle and respiratory chain, as well as in ABC transporters, which results in the decrease of ATP production and reduced membrane permeability [114]. However, after such treatment bacteria activate the DNA and protein repair systems, which might explain the relative tolerance of *Enterococcus* to many combined treatments applied in this study [117].



Figure 4-u: Log reduction of E. coli viability following US treatments (light grey bars),  $O_3$  treatments (white bars) for 15 s (a) and 30 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars). Asterisks mean a statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination.

No effects were observed on *E. coli* for combined treatment when  $O_3$  was applied for 30 s, and a significative viability reduction was detected only in the case of the combined treatment with the shortest US and  $O_3$  times, i.e., 30 s and 15 s, respectively (Fig. 4-u).



Figure 4-v: Log reduction of S. Enteritidis viability following US treatments (light grey bars), O<sub>3</sub> treatments (white bars) for 30 s (a) and 45 s (b), and sonozone treatments (dark grey bars). Asterisks mean a statistical difference between US and ozone applied alone and in combination.

As for *S*. Enteritidis, its viability was significantly reduced by US\_30 followed by  $O_3_45$  respect to US and  $O_3$  applied alone (Fig. 4-v). The antimicrobial effect of combined ozone plus ultrasound treatments on *Salmonella* were only reported to improve safety of plant foods, such as cabbage, spinach, and lettuce [118]–[120], whereas to the best of our knowledge no data are present in the literature on the application of such treatments in WW. On the other hand, the combination of ozone and ultrasound treatments was previously proven to be effective against *E. coli* in saline water (NaCl 0,9% w/v). US boosted the effect of  $O_3$  through the declumping of bacterial clusters and the dispersion of cells that are more sensitive to the ozone. Moreover, cavitation occurs, affecting the cell membrane, as well as free radicals' formation increases, thus enhancing the overall antimicrobial effect. It was also observed that, after a combined ultrasound and ozone treatment, *E. coli* lost the cell wall, and possibly due to a synergistic effect of US and  $O_3$  [91].

#### 4.2.4 Cost-effective analysis

In this section, an economic evaluation is outlined and applied to the sonozone experiments. The achievement of a reliable technology, suitable for any treatment application, have to possess two main characteristics: technical feasibility and economic advantages. The consumption and cost assessments are essential for designing and optimizing a process [121]. The laboratory tests gave

remarkable results in a view to a pathogenic reduction. However, higher removal rates do not regularly correspond to a cost-effective energy consumption. Towards an optimization of the process and a bigger up-scale applicability, the parameters  $E_{s\%}$  and  $\Delta M$  are measured. In WWTPs, the processes scaling up demonstrated to be suitable towards a reduction of the overall energy consumptions [122]. The proposed simplified approach could validate the application of the combined US and O<sub>3</sub> treatment within a disinfection process line.

When the  $E_{s\%} > 0$  (*Eq. 7*) the combined sonozone process may be considered as economically convenient compared to the separate processes.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Pathogen	Treatment combination	E <sub>s%</sub> (%)	ΔM (€/m3)
	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _60	67%	12,0
	US_90*O₃_60	55%	9,0
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _60	43%	9,5
Pseudomonas	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _60	30%	8,3
spp.	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _120	42%	8,1
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _120	46%	11,0
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _120	30%	7,5
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _120	38%	15,1
E acti	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _15	43%	1,5
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _15	-14%	-0,4
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _15	-1%	-0,1
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _15	3%	0,4
E. COII	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _30	-26%	-0,7
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _30	-19%	-0,8
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _30	-2%	-0,2
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _30	4%	0,7
Enterococcus spp.	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _30	32%	1,6
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _30	25%	1,6
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _30	15%	1,8
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _30	11%	2,1
	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _60	1%	0,1
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _60	-7%	-0,5
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _60	-4%	-0,5
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _60	-1%	-0,1
<i>S</i> . Enteritidis	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _30	-35%	-0,9
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _30	-11%	-0,5
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _30	7%	0,8
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _30	9%	1,8
	US_30*O <sub>3</sub> _45	43%	3,5
	US_90*O <sub>3</sub> _45	10%	0,7
	US_300*O <sub>3</sub> _45	26%	3,9
	US_600*O <sub>3</sub> _45	19%	4,2

Table 4-4: Microbial cost-effective analysis

Several combinations resulted to be advantageous (Table 4-4). The trend showed convenient energy percentages, particularly while applying a short ultrasonic pre-treatment right before the ozone process. Notably, *Pseudomonas* spp. gave significant energy usage reductions, up to the 67% for the US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_60 combination. Anyway, the application of the 30 s ultrasound treatment demonstrated to be able to reduce the energy usage more efficiently than the longer US pre-treatments, among all the analyzed pathogens. In favor of a disinfection of several meter cubes per day, the same

considerations were given towards the cost reduction. Selecting the most efficient sonozone combinations it is possible to obtain a theorical reduction of spent money  $\Delta M$  equal to 12,0  $\notin/m^3$  (*Pseudomonas* spp. US\_30\*O\_3\_60) and 15,1  $\notin/m^3$  (*Pseudomonas* spp. US\_600\*O\_3\_120). Despite being the most resistant pathogen, *Pseudomonas* spp. shown the most advantageous percentages. Longer ozone applications (60 s and 120 s) could have given the possibility for the oxidant to be more efficient. Advantageous savings percentages were again demonstrated while applying shorter US pretreatments (30 s). *E. Coli* shown unstable results and, probably due to the short ozonation times, often not advantageous. *Enterococcus* spp. (30 s treatment) and *S*. enteritidis (45 s treatment) gave suitable results, in a view of a WW microbial reusability. The negative values reported in Table 4-4 have to be considered as not favorable energetically or economically (combined treatment power usage higher than the single one).

#### 4.3 Sonozone: ecotoxicological in-silico evaluations

The chemical compounds considered for the in-silico evaluation were indicated from the GC-MS and the HPLC-HRMS analysis. The results, shown in Table 4-5 and 4-8, will be presented as percentage reduction, comparing the concentration traceable in the NT sample to the after-treatment value (< 100% reduction; > 100% augment; 100% not efficient treatment). However, particularly during the GC-MS analysis, new volatile compounds may be created after the oxidation of the initial organic compounds. The GC-MS outputs, composed by aldehydes, ketones and alcohols, will be assembled into two main categories (Aromatic and Aliphatic). Differently, the several HPLC-HRMS analyzed compounds were gathered into more categories: supplements, pharmaceuticals, nylon, health care products, cleaning products, insect repellents, steroids, health care products, perfumes & PVC, drugs and dyes. For all the categories, the software simulated the models of "fish acute" and "fish chronic", "Daphnia Magna acute" and "Daphnia Magna chronic", "algae acute" and "algae chronic", "persistence in soils" and "persistence in water" and "water solubility". For the explanation of the following tables, it is possible to divide the toxicity levels in four ranges of concentrations: > 100 mg/L – non-toxic (nT); between 10 and 100 mg/L – low toxicity (L-T); between 1 and 10 mg/L – medium toxicity (M-T) and < 1 mg/L - high toxicity (H-T). In the same way, persistence is categorized in three ranges: < 120 days – non-persistent (nP); between 120 and 180 days – persistent (P) and > 180 days – very persistent (vP).

Starting from the aromatic and aliphatic compounds, from Table 4-5 is possible to conclude that all the initial compounds in the NT sample were oxidated after 120 s of ozone, single or combined. US

61

pretreatment was slightly able to enhance their removal. Moreover, 2-Nonenal, 2-pentyl-, Heptanal and Nonanal were three aldehydes formed after the application of the O<sub>3</sub>\_120, confirming that ozone may produce aldehydes as a by-product, while applying the ozonation for more than 60 s. However, US\_30\*O<sub>3</sub>\_120 and even more O<sub>3</sub>\_600 oxidated the totality of them. The most hazardous aromatic and aliphatic compounds resulted to be the 3-Octanol, 3,7-dimethyl (H-T for Daphnia Magna), the Heptanal (H-T for Daphnia Magna) and Phenol, 4-(1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutyl)- (H-T for algae) (Table 4-6). The sonozone treatment demonstrated to be able to remove these dangerous compounds. Above all, Heptanal is an aldehyde formed during the ozone process. The application of long O<sub>3</sub> treatments or a 30 s US pretreatment could remove it from the WW. Inside this selection of aromatic and aliphatic chemicals, no one shown remarkable persistence in soils or water, and their solubility in water was below one mg/L exclusively for the Phenol, 4-(1,1,3,3tetramethylbutyl)- (Table 4-7).

The removal rate of supplements, pharmaceuticals, nylon components, health care products, cleaning products, insect repellents, steroids, health care products, perfumes & PVC, drugs and dyes was different from the previously described aromatic and aliphatic compounds. Exclusively the longest ozonation time led to a high percentage of abatements, while the US pretreatment was often ineffective against these compounds (Table 4-8). Moreover, the Triethylene glycol, a pharmaceutical compound, resulted to be present in a higher concentration after the US pretreatments, compared to the untreated sample and the hybrid process was not capable of oxidize it. The abatement rates of other compounds seemed to be meaningful for the  $O_{3}_{-}600$  and only partial for shorter ozone durations. The most toxic detected compound were: Leucine, Isoleucine and N,N Diethyltoluamide (H-T for fish), Diethylphthalate, Laurolactam and Tyrosine (H-T for Daphnia Magna) and the Triethylene glycol (H-T for both Daphnia magna and algae)(Table 4-9). This last pharmaceutical compound is the toughest one to be removed and one of the most toxic presents within the researched ones. The soil persistence revealed no troublesome compounds. However, the assessment identified Diethylphthalate, N,N Diethyltoluamide and Tyrosine as very persistent in water. Furthermore, low solubility concentration is not typical among these compounds (Table 4-10).
Compound	N.T.	US_0* O₃_60	US_0* O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_0* O₃_600	US_5* O₃_60	US_5* O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_5* O₃_600	US_30* O <sub>3</sub> _60	US_30* O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_30* O₃_600	
1-Hexanol, 2-ethyl-	100%	71%	0%	0%	118%	0%	0%	54%	0%	0%	
2-Nonenal, 2-pentyl-	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
3-Octanol, 3,7-dimethyl-	100%	50%	0%	0%	53%	0%	0%	31%	0%	0%	
Ethanone, 1-(2,2- dimethylcyclopentyl)-	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
Heptanal	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	62%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
Nonanal	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	89%	0%	42%	25%	0%	
Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1- dimethylethyl)-	100%	23%	0%	0%	34%	0%	0%	27%	0%	0%	
Phenol, 4-(1,1,3,3- tetramethylbutyl)-	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	

Table 4-5: Aromatic and aliphatic compound reduction percentages

Table 4-6: Aromatic and aliphatic compound ecotoxicity assessment

							Ec	otoxicity				
					Fish		Dap	hnia Magna			Algae	
Compound	Aliphatic or Aromatic	Group	Formula	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank
1-Hexanol, 2-ethyl-	Aliphatic	Alcohol	C <sub>8</sub> H <sub>18</sub> O	31,24	0,29	L-T	11,11	1,60	L-T	7,33	2,69	M-T
2-Nonenal, 2-pentyl-	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	$C_{14}H_{26}O$	60,65	0,39	L-T	6,35	0,48	M-T	4,12	1,34	M-T
3-Octanol, 3,7- dimethyl-	Aliphatic	Alcohol	$C_{10}H_{22}O$	1,49	0,03	M-T	0,25	0,19	н-т	1,27	0,14	М-Т
Ethanone, 1-(2,2- dimethylcyclopentyl)-	Aromatic	Keton	$C_9H_{16}O$	67,13	3,98	L-T	6,30	1,66	М-Т	82,31	7,57	L-T
Heptanal	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	C <sub>7</sub> H <sub>14</sub> O	1,54	0,14	M-T	0,20	0,13	H-T	1,01	0,27	M-T
Nonanal	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	$C_9H_{18}O$	5,35	0,30	M-T	7,90	0,20	M-T	3,40	0,47	M-T
Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1- dimethylethyl)-	Aromatic	Alcohol	$C_{15}H_{24}O$	18,36	1,42	L-T	17,78	2,68	L-T	17,18	3,55	L-T
Phenol, 4-(1,1,3,3- tetramethylbutyl)-	Aromatic	Alcohol	$C_{14}H_{22}O$	4,71	0,03	M-T	1,80	0,22	М-Т	0,80	0,06	н-т

				Envir	onmer		Physic-chemical properties	
				Persistence in	soils	Persistence in v	water	Water solubility
Compound	Aliphatic or Aromatic	Group	Formula	Half-life [days]	Class	Half-life [days]	Class	Concentration [mg/L]
1-Hexanol, 2-ethyl-	Aliphatic	Alcohol	$C_8H_{18}O$	2	nP	8	nP	874,57
2-Nonenal, 2-pentyl-	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	$C_{14}H_{26}O$	2	nP	8	nP	542,35
3-Octanol, 3,7-dimethyl-	Aliphatic	Alcohol	$C_{10}H_{22}O$	7	nP	60	nP	29,73
Ethanone, 1-(2,2-dimethylcyclopentyl)-	Aromatic	Keton	$C_9H_{16}O$	7	nP	7	nP	1531,86
Heptanal	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	$C_7H_{14}O$	5	nP	4	nP	40,49
Nonanal	Aliphatic	Aldehyde	$C_9H_{18}O$	7	nP	16	nP	95,36
Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-	Aromatic	Alcohol	$C_{15}H_{24}O$	7	nP	5	nP	1241,68
Phenol, 4-(1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutyl)-	Aromatic	Alcohol	$C_{14}H_{22}O$	26	nP	6	nP	0,56

### Table 4-7: Aromatic and aliphatic compounds persistence and solubility

	Table 4-8. Poliatant reduction percentages											
Compound	N.T.	US_0* O₃_60	US_0* O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_0* O₃_600	US_5* O₃_60	US_5* O₃_120	US_5* O₃_600	US_30* O₃_60	US_30* O <sub>3</sub> _120	US_30* O₃_600		
2,4,6- Trimethylbenzenesulfonic acid	100%	86%	70%	2%	87%	79%	5%	85%	78%	5%		
4-Decylbenzenesulfonic acid	100%	29%	13%	2%	44%	22%	3%	39%	21%	1%		
4-Dodecylbenzenesulfonic acid	100%	21%	14%	4%	31%	16%	4%	30%	17%	3%		
4-Undecylbenzenesulfonic acid	100%	25%	13%	2%	41%	19%	3%	38%	20%	2%		
Adenosine	100%	49%	22%	1%	112%	31%	1%	150%	74%	1%		
Adipamide	100%	100%	73%	62%	85%	70%	61%	76%	69%	56%		
Azelaic acid	100%	89%	79%	14%	145%	101%	18%	110%	116%	24%		
Cholic acid	100%	54%	29%	0%	57%	40%	0%	54%	37%	0%		
Cytidine	100%	60%	4%	0%	94%	13%	0%	92%	34%	0%		
Deoxycholic acid	100%	41%	30%	0%	76%	47%	1%	72%	48%	0%		
Deoxyuridine	100%	38%	0%	1%	58%	7%	0%	52%	16%	0%		
Diethylphthalate	100%	100%	94%	18%	97%	88%	29%	89%	89%	19%		
Laurolactam	100%	46%	31%	2%	55%	34%	2%	44%	30%	2%		
Laurylbetaine	100%	23%	9%	2%	41%	15%	2%	38%	17%	1%		
Leucine + Isoleucine	100%	37%	3%	0%	61%	13%	1%	65%	31%	2%		
N,N Diethyltoluamide	100%	81%	65%	5%	81%	69%	6%	75%	68%	5%		
Theophylline	100%	33%	31%	0%	30%	39%	0%	34%	40%	0%		
Triethylene glycol	100%	128%	129%	139%	136%	138%	160%	118%	138%	140%		
Tyrosine	100%	31%	2%	1%	61%	10%	0%	57%	21%	1%		
Xantine	100%	46%	2%	0%	91%	14%	0%	115%	25%	0%		

			Ecotoxicity								
				Fish		Dap	hnia Magna	1		Algae	
Compound	Category	Formula	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank	Acute [mg/L]	Chronic [mg/L]	Rank
2,4,6-Trimethylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_9H_{12}O_3S$	115,91	7,94	nT	90,58	12,41	L-T	41,31	18,00	L-T
4-Decylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_{16}H_{26}O_3S$	109,90	2,38	nT	18,09	6,14	L-T	104,80	4,70	nT
4-Dodecylbenzenesulfonic acid	Drugs and dyes	$C_{18}H_{30}O_3S$	61,30	3,48	L-T	102,83	12,70	nT	48,97	5,80	L-T
4-Undecylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_{17}H_{28}O_3S$	25,54	0,90	L-T	14,27	6,13	L-T	2,91	3,59	M-T
Adenosine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_{10}H_{13}N_5O_4$	29,56	1,36	L-T	11,12	5,34	L-T	84,63	7,93	L-T
Adipamide	Nylon	$C_6H_{12}N_2$	96,61	2,69	L-T	81,17	8,56	L-T	110,05	11,24	nT
Azelaic acid	Health care products	$C_9H_{16}O_4$	25,08	0,17	L-T	30,83	11,82	L-T	17,05	3,40	L-T
Cholic acid	Steroids	C24H40O5	23,23	0,33	L-T	16,86	0,26	L-T	10,83	0,68	L-T
Cytidine	Pharmaceuticals	C9H13N3O5	63,79	0,83	L-T	44,15	7,55	L-T	78,27	7,26	L-T
Deoxycholic acid	Steroids	$C_{24}H_{40}O_4$	15,31	0,16	L-T	25,45	0,64	L-T	26,85	17,35	L-T
Deoxyuridine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_9H_{12}N_2O_5$	58,17	0,35	L-T	49,40	7,18	L-T	52,04	31,89	L-T
Diethylphthalate	Perfumes & PVC	$C_{12}H_{14}O_4$	2,31	0,46	M-T	0,04	7,06	H-T	6,49	0,15	M-T
Laurolactam	Nylon	$C_{12}H_{23}NO$	2,84	0,20	M-T	0,98	7,83	H-T	4,49	0,66	M-T
Laurylbetaine	Health care products	$C_{16}H_{33}NO_2$	14,99	0,34	L-T	2,53	1,38	М-Т	2,30	1,48	M-T
Leucine + Isoleucine	Supplements	$C_6H_{13}NO_2$	0,88	0,02	H-T	1,13	0,02	M-T	6,59	0,66	M-T
N,N Diethyltoluamide	Insect repellents	$C_{12}H_{17}NO$	0,92	0,03	H-T	1,05	0,01	M-T	6,19	0,43	M-T
Theophylline	Pharmaceuticals	C7H8N4O2	41,36	0,35	L-T	21,73	13,93	L-T	52,10	15,93	L-T
Triethylene glycol	Pharmaceuticals	$C_6H_{14}O_4$	1,67	0,18	M-T	0,78	2,83	H-T	0,55	0,16	Н-Т
Tyrosine	Supplements	C <sub>9</sub> H <sub>11</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	2,46	0,03	M-T	0,98	0,01	H-T	5,90	0,37	M-T
Xantine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_5H_4N_4O_2$	33797,21	2,62	nT	87,70	2,28	L-T	26,95	9,41	L-T

Table 4-9: Pollutant ecotoxicity assessment

			Environmental controls				Physic-chemical properties
			LIIVII	onnen			r nysic-chemical properties
			Persistence in	soils	Persistence in v	water	Water solubility
Compound	Category	Formula	Half-life [days]	Class	Half-life [days]	Class	Concentration [mg/L]
2,4,6-Trimethylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_9H_{12}O_3S$	2	nP	10	nP	21419,47
4-Decylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_{16}H_{26}O_{3}S$	13	nP	6	nP	699,53
4-Dodecylbenzenesulfonic acid	Drugs and dyes	$C_{18}H_{30}O_3S$	2	nP	2	nP	26642,58
4-Undecylbenzenesulfonic acid	Cleaning products	$C_{17}H_{28}O_3S$	5	nP	21	nP	477,34
Adenosine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_{10}H_{13}N_5O_4\\$	2	nP	4	nP	2391,68
Adipamide	Nylon	$C_6H_{12}N_2$	5	nP	6	nP	69,03
Azelaic acid	Health care products	$C_9H_{16}O_4$	34	nP	10	nP	18237,64
Cholic acid	Steroids	$C_{24}H_{40}O_5$	34	nP	10	nP	2835,89
Cytidine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_9H_{13}N_3O_5$	23	nP	8	nP	7346,68
Deoxycholic acid	Steroids	$C_{24}H_{40}O_4$	27	nP	5	nP	4836,60
Deoxyuridine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_9H_{12}N_2O_5$	7	nP	8	nP	682,14
Diethylphthalate	Perfumes & PVC	$C_{12}H_{14}O_4$	23	nP	390	vP	174,24
Laurolactam	Nylon	$C_{12}H_{23}NO$	26	nP	8	nP	568,12
Laurylbetaine	Health care products	$C_{16}H_{33}NO_2$	23	nP	7	nP	1077,31
Leucine + Isoleucine	Supplements	$C_6H_{13}NO_2$	71	nP	15	nP	52,04
N,N Diethyltoluamide	Insect repellents	$C_{12}H_{17}NO$	71	nP	241	vP	38,55
Theophylline	Pharmaceuticals	$C_7H_8N_4O_2$	20	nP	4	nP	288,29
Triethylene glycol	Pharmaceuticals	$C_6H_{14}O_4$	23	nP	26	nP	43,42
Tyrosine	Supplements	$C_9H_{11}NO_3$	71	nP	1072	vP	28,83
Xantine	Pharmaceuticals	$C_5H_4N_4O_2$	16	nP	4	nP	1334137,33

Table 4-10: Pollutant persistence and solubility

# 4.4 Sonozone: pilot-scale

The PP reactor must be tested and compared to the laboratory-scale results. Since it was demonstrated at the laboratory-scale that the US pretreatment may prompt the radical generation, enhancing the ozone transfer rate into the liquid matrix, the efficiency of the process was higher than the single application of these AOPs. The same has to be tested with the continuous pilot-scale hybrid treatment.

# 4.4.1 Ozone concentrations

The two series within the Fig. 4-w should be intended as follow: the "single inlet" is the process performed only with the inlet ozone at the bottom of column "a", instead the "double inlet" includes the contemporary ozone inflow from both the columns "a" and "b". Columns "a" and "b" were presented in Fig. 3-h.



Figure 4-w: Dissolved ozone in the PP reactor

The dissolved ozone concentration in tap water was measured with the above-mentioned Indigo method (4500-O<sub>3</sub> B, Standard methods). The evaluation was applied in both the internal ("a") and external ("b") columns, sampling a 100 mL volume every 10 minutes of ozonation.

# 4.5 Wastewater reuse: the circular economy concept

It was demonstrated that WW is an extremely valuable source of water and nutrients, and thus it must be used in a sustainable way. Nowadays, water scarcity is a burden in several areas and non-stopping spreading worldwide, forcing the countries and international organization to push towards the reuse and recovery of the resources. The European Commission, in 2015, adopted a plan called "Closing the loop—a European Union (EU) action plan for the Circular Economy" concerning the

circular economy concept for the closure of the cycle, started with water withdrawal from nature [123]. This strategy aimed to promote the reclamation of WW through legislative proposals, such as the recent regulation (EU) 2020/741. The water resource recovery recently became a prior sector of investments [124]. Above all, RWW for agricultural irrigation is driving the circular economy concept through the direct application of water and nutrients on crops. The outstanding result may convert the exploiting of resources in their controlled reuse. However, the reuse has to be constantly safe, ensuring a high level of protection for the human and animal health and for the environment. Moreover, the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development defined the SDG6 that focuses particularly on water sanitation [125]. Other remarkable goals, not directly focused on water, are strongly related to the circular economy concept: SDG 11 (make cities and human settlements sustainable and resilient) and 12 (ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns). The combination of these strategies may transform the consumption habits of the European population into a climate neutral way of life, reducing the environmental impacts. EU countries were additionally forced to upgrade their conception of waste, after the Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC. The establishment of a hierarchy was an innovation that set new necessary measures to recover, reuse and recycle waste. The prerogative was the prevention, followed by the preparing for reuse, the recycling, other recovers and finally the disposal. The hierarchy must be respect in order, clearly imposing waste disposal exclusively as a last resort [126]. Nutrients and altered water must be treated as waste, adopting the passages as explained. The sustainable development of waste management was a visionary concept toward the "zero waste" [127]. For instance, nitrogen has been classically seen as a hazardous component that has to be removed in the activated sludge along the WWTP line. The legislation often requires total N removal in WWTP effluents to very low limits (< 15 mg/L), implying additional energy demands on conventional, carbon-removing treatment processes [62]. The nitrogen contained in industrial fertilizers is produced through the Haber-Bosch process by fixing atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>. However, this is an energetically and economically expensive process, requiring 19,3 kWh/kg N produced [128]. Moreover, phosphorus is even more scarce than nitrogen, and is never found free (in its elemental form) in nature but exclusively in phosphorus-containing minerals. Phosphorus resources are distributed unevenly in the world and are fast depleting, boosting the need for efficient recovery technologies from high-loaded streams, such as wastewater effluents. The legislation sets the P threshold as < 2 mg/L and its recover rate is higher from the solid phase (sludge) than the liquid one (WW), due to higher concentrations in the former. P recovery from a WWTP effluent will effectively save the 2,11 kWh/kg P used during the mineral P production process [27]. Exploiting WWTPs flexibility by modifying treatment sequences could produce nutrient-rich effluents, suitable for fertigation. For the extent of demonstrating a meaningful possibility of reusing WW for agricultural irrigation, the following case study was performed. The nutrients will be considered as a waste exclusively whether their concentration after treatment is higher than the plant needs.

### 4.6 Fertigation case study

In this section, a logical methodology to evaluate the techno-economic feasibility of WW fertigation practices is outlined and applied to a relevant Italian case-study. Hydrological and economic advantages of fertigation are determined considering water and fertilizer requirements of local crops and are compared to mineral fertilizers and agricultural water consumption under traditional practices.

### 4.6.1 Methodological framework

The methodological protocol to assess the feasibility of effluents fertigation considers effluent flowrate and quality, target crops requirements, and the assessment of water and nutrients that could be fulfilled from RWW. Mass balances are drawn to avoid overfertilization and, finally, a simplified economic assessment is implemented to evaluate fertigation sustainability and efficiency over traditional practices.

The irrigation water volumes that should be supplied are determined based on monthly water balances. Turc's equation [129] is applied to determine the effective rainfall (R, L/s ha) from meteorological data. In a simplified approach, the crop evapotranspiration (ET, L/s ha) can be considered equal to irrigation water requirement. The net irrigation requirement (I, L/s ha) can be calculated monthly through *Eq. 12*:

$$I = (ET - R)/E \qquad (Eq. 12)$$

In Eq. 12, E is the overall irrigation efficiency, obtained by multiplying irrigation system efficiency  $(E_d)$ , water distribution efficiency from source to fields  $(E_t)$ , and application efficiency  $(E_a)$  (Eq. 13), function of site's paedology.

$$E = E_t E_a E_d \tag{Eq. 13}$$

The difference between ET and R represents the net water amount required for crop needs; this is used to estimate the necessary fertigation water volumes. N and P are considered as the main nutrients necessary for crops growth, while potassium was not included in the analysis since it is not usually measured in WWTP effluents. Specific crop nutrient requirements (kg/ha yr) are used to draw mass balances, considering applied water volumes and concentrations therein, together with fertilizer use efficiency. If fertigation supplied nutrient mass is lower than crop requirements, mineral fertilizers should be added; in the opposite case, fertigation limitation ensues, implying reduction of applied RWW, which should be complemented with supply from other sources.

A simplified economic evaluation is then performed, considering the cost of mineral fertilizers (ammonium nitrate or urea for N supply, triple super phosphate (TSP) for P supply), together with their use efficiency. Fertilizers' use efficiency varies according to fertilization practices, being lower in direct application to soils and higher in drip fertigation [130]. Concerning water saving, the cost of agricultural water supply is considered.

### 4.6.2 Case study application

This methodology was applied to from an urban WWTP with potentiality of 62.500 P.E. The location is an agricultural area where maize, rice, soybean, and vineyards are common crops. The WWTP employs an advanced treatment process train (pretreatment, primary clarification, enhanced biological phosphorous removal with nitrification/denitrification, final clarification, disinfection). Two years WWTP operating data (flowrate, influent and effluent concentrations) were considered. The mean influent flowrate was  $(26,54 \pm 7,62) \times 10^3 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$ , while mean available flowrates during the irrigation season (April - September) are reported in Table 4-11. Local meteorological data [131] were used to calculate the average effective rainfall (R) (*Eq. 12*), in the preceding 5 year period (2016 - 2020).

Month	Q <sub>average</sub> x 10 <sup>3</sup> (m <sup>3</sup> /d)	Q <sub>min</sub> x 10 <sup>3</sup> (m <sup>3</sup> /d)	Q <sub>max</sub> x 10 <sup>3</sup> (m <sup>3</sup> /d)
April	33,168	22,161	39,275
May	45,179	22,551	77,676
June	23,969	14,735	27,400
July	19,238	17,986	21,457
August	20,541	17,761	23,047
September	23,797	16,550	39,728

Table 4-11: Minimum, average, and maximum WWTP flowrates in the irrigation period (April - September).

Two different scenarios were simulated for the techno-economic analysis (Table 4-12): (a) actual nutrient concentration in the effluent, and (b) maximum nutrient concentrations allowed by current Italian regulations (Table 2-6). Actual nutrients effluent concentrations, expressed as TN and TP, were significantly lower than reuse limits. The application of the sonozone technique could be considered as included in the second scenario, where the maximum allowed concentration is recovered. When the N and P concentrations in the reclaimed WW exceed the reuse thresholds, some dilution may be required to fit all the required parameters.

Although K was not considered herein, it was however reported that its concentration in reused municipal effluents could provide up to 130 kg/ha to crops, higher than usual fertilization dosages (30 - 70 kg/ha) [132], and thus could be considered nonlimiting. Fertilizer use efficiency was respectively 40% for N and 20% for P for mineral fertilization, while it was assumed to be 95% and 45%, respectively, for fertigation, since this practice ensures that nutrients are supplied precisely at the area of most intensive root activity according to the specific crop requirements [130].

Concerning the economic analysis, two positive terms (savings) are considered as a consequence of reclamation: firstly, the reduction in mineral fertilizers use and then the reduction in primary water consumption. It was initially assumed that no fee is paid by farmers for reclaimed water. However, additional positive inputs to supply utilities' economic balance could be included if farmers would be willing to pay for RWW the same price charged for traditional irrigation water. Local databases of agricultural and reclamation associations were examined to estimate both mineral fertilizer costs [133] and irrigation water cost [134].

Case	TSS	BOD₅	COD	ТР	TN	Ammonia
	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)
Case 1: WWTP effluent	5,88 ± 6,17	7,79 ± 3,20	31,25 ± 12,27	0,86 ± 0,51	6,89 ± 2,80	0,30 ± 0,58
Case 2: Limits for wastewater agricultural reuse	10	20	100	2	15	2

Table 4-12: Physico-chemical parameters considered in the two investigated scenarios

The investigated crops significantly differ in terms of nutrient and water requirements throughout the irrigation period (Table 4-13): maize, soybean and vineyards require irrigation from April to August, while rice requires watering from May to September. The maximum water demand is typically encountered in July, even though vines showed an almost continuous demand. Water requirements were calculated for humid subtropical climate (Cfa in the Koeppen classification) and medium-textured soil conditions. As for nutrients, vines need the lowest N and P amounts, while maize and rice demand significantly higher fertilization. Rice requires higher P compared to other crops.

Сгор		Water	require	ement	(L/s ha)		Nutrient requirement (kg/ha yr)			Reference
	April	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Ν	Р	К	
Maize	0,42	0,53	0,53	0,65	0,53	0	135	60	180	[135], [136]
Soybean	0	0,45	0,52	0,65	0,52	0	20	40	20	[130], [135]
Rice	0	0,69	0,69	0,69	0,56	0,48	162	120	72	[135], [137]
Grapevine	0,64	0,45	0,45	0,45	0,45	0	10	10	10	[138]

Table 4-13: Water and nutrient requirements for the considered crops.

Total irrigation efficiency (E) was calculated, assuming  $E_t$  and  $E_a$  values of 0,90 and 0,95, respectively (*Eq. 13*), corresponding to water conveyance by concrete-lines open channels from source to distribution point, and medium-textured soil structure. Four different final water distribution systems were considered, namely: surface irrigation ( $E_d = 0,60$ ), drip irrigation ( $E_d = 0,70$ ), sprinkler ( $E_d = 0,75$ ) and hose reel ( $E_d = 0,90$ ).

In the lowest efficiency scenario (surface irrigation) (Table 4-14), overall water requirements are highest for rice (9,283 x  $10^3$  m<sup>3</sup>/month ha), followed by maize (10,6% less than rice), grapes (23,2% less than rice) and soybean (29,0% less than rice). According to this simplified approach, water demand is inversely proportional to irrigation systems' efficiency (Table 4-14).

Water	-		I (m³/m	onth ha)	
distribution systems	Months	Maize	Soybean	Rice	Grapevine
	April	1219	0	0	2330
	May	1386	968	2222	968
Surface	June	1265	1214	2073	861
irrigation	July	2777	2777	2986	1733
	August	1652	1599	1808	1234
	September	0	0	194	0
	April	975	0	0	1864
Sprinkler	May	1109	775	1777	775
	June	1012	971	1659	688
	July	2221	2221	2389	1386
	August	1321	1279	1447	987
	September	0	0	155	0
	April	1045	0	0	1997
	May	1188	830	1904	830
Drin irrigation	June	1084	1041	1777	738
Drip ingation	July	2380	2380	2559	1485
	August	1416	1371	1550	1058
	September	0	0	166	0
	April	812	0	0	1554
	May	924	646	1481	646
Hose real	June	843	810	1382	574
nosereer	July	1851	1851	1990	1155
	August	1101	1066	1205	823
	September	0	0	129	0

Table 4-14: Specific irrigation requirements I (m<sup>3</sup>/month ha) of the investigated crops using irrigation systems with different efficiency E<sub>d</sub>.

The amount of nutrients supplied by RWW, based on calculated minimum irrigation volumes, are shown in Figure 4-x. According to this approach,  $E_d$  influences just the total water requirement, since nutrient calculations are based on net irrigation requirements (I), depending only on crops characteristics. In the case of soybean and vines, fertigation may lead to N oversupply. Therefore, water volumes were recalculated to limit N supply to crop requirements. As a consequence of fertigation, significant reduction in mineral N fertilizer dosage could thus be achieved, while P shows very limited supply by RWW. In the second scenario (RWW nutrient concentrations equal to agricultural reuse standards), relevant reduction in mineral N addition (> 40%) could be achieved for all crops, while P supply by RWW was again low. Proper tailoring of WW treatment could lead to improved effluent characteristics for specific crop requirements under a fit-for-purpose approach. In the specific example, lower P removal in the WWTP would provide a more balanced N:P ratio for fertigation, still assuring discharge limits fulfilment. However, the lower P use efficiency, compared to N, remains a limiting factor for fertigation practices, and consequently some mineral fertilizer addition appears unavoidable in most cases.



Figure 4-x: Fertilizers provided by fertigation (kg/ha yr) in comparison with total crop demand in the investigated scenarios.

Results of the economic analysis are summarized in Figure 4-y and Table 4-15. Relevant savings (up to > 40%) in mineral fertilizers could be obtained through fertigation (Figure 4-y). Vines proved to be the most favored crop. Lower benefits (25%) were calculated for soybean, with maize and rice showing worse performances (respectively 15% and 11% savings).

For all crops, water savings were remarkably higher than mineral fertilizer's, due to the huge water volumes that must be supplied, especially for maize and rice (Table 4-15). RWW with nutrient concentration up to regulatory limits (scenario 2) would reduce water savings for soybean and grapevine, because all N demand is already covered by actual RWW (scenario 1), and P supply is limited by its low use efficiency. The economic balance could be closed if farmers were charged by WWTPs a tariff equal to that currently paid to agricultural irrigation consortia ( $0,2 \notin m^3$  in the current analysis): total cost for wastewater reclamation (including capital and operating costs), in addition to wastewater treatment cost, were estimated in the range of  $0,25 - 0,50 \notin m^3$  in Italy [139]. Thus, such tariff would cover the additional costs for water utilities; public subsidies or incentives could further improve the balance.

	Scenario 1 (a	ctual effluent)		Scenario 2 (legislation limits)				
Crop	Water savings (€/ha yr)	Fertilizer savings (€/ha yr)	Total savings (€/ha yr)	Water savings (€/ha yr)	Fertilizer savings (€/ha yr)	Total savings (€/ha yr)		
Maize	851	76	927	851	144	995		
Rice	952	85	1037	952	161	1113		
Soybean	526	47	573	281	47	328		
Grapevine	263	24	287	140	24	164		

Table 4-15: Water, fertilizers, and total economic savings ( $\notin$ /ha yr) for scenarios 1) and 2).



Figure 4-y: Simulated yearly fertilizer costs (€/ha yr) for the two investigated scenarios versus baseline conditions (mineral fertilization).

# 4.7 Social acceptance

Demonstrating the importance of the fertigation practice towards water and nutrient recovery from WWTP effluents and highlighting its relevance for the circular economy perspective is not sufficient. The obstruction against its application on the everyday activities due to the sociocultural acceptance could be a limiting factor for the stable implementation of this practice. WW reuse feasibility is strongly linked to stakeholders' acceptance, from farmers to consumers, which may be independent of the scientific evidence supporting the related benefits [140]. Public dissemination approaches are often used to investigate and encourage stakeholders' willingness to adopt such schemes. A Brazilian study shown relations between the citizen's educational level and the acceptance of the reuse practice. The perception of water as abundant made them believe that no needs of reuse are

necessary, supporting the culture of waste [141]. Moreover, marked differences are related to the gender, ethnicity, age, sector of employment, religion and income. The fear against the pathogenic contamination and the chemicals in WW are the most limiting thoughts. Nonetheless, the answers reported an opening towards the acceptance of reuses in industrial applications (firefighting, toilet flushing, street cleaning), non-food agriculture (groundwater recharge, forest irrigation, sport fields, industrial crop irrigation) and partial household applications (toilet flush). On the other hand, all the remained household employments and edible crop agriculture utilizations are currently seen as unacceptable. Low human contact applications are admissible, while sectors involving direct and indirect consumption or skin contact are less accepted [142], [143].

Generally, enhanced information availability and transparency increase farmers' willingness to adopt WW reclamation practices. Moreover, the perception of a helpfulness towards the reuse and a favorable economic background, with dedicated incentives, coupled with a positive political attitude, are important aspects to consider [140], [144]. Young farmers with higher education levels generally demonstrate more interest in WW reuse schemes compared to other categories. Younger farmers showed stronger acceptance of nonconventional water sources, were interested in visiting WWTPs and understanding their operations, and exhibited higher trust on alternative supply [143], [145].

Nowadays, continued encouragement and incentivization of farmers and WWTP operators to widen RWW fertigation practices, by adopting suitable strategies under circular economy perspective, appears ever more necessary. Virtuous solutions addressing contingent factors such as water source availability and quality and appropriate crop selection should be promoted by agricultural agencies by providing exhaustive and transparent information to stakeholders and citizens. A combination of measures, including pollutant reduction at source, enhanced treatment focusing on persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic pollutants, careful agricultural practices and transparent information to stakeholders will be necessary to ensure safe and accepted widespread agricultural water reclamation schemes [146].

# 4.8 Chapter conclusions

The properties of a PEff from an urban WWTP (100.000 P.E.) were assessed before and after a hybrid AOP treatment, consisting of an ultrasonic pretreatment followed by an ozonation step. The results were presented in the form of percentage difference between the raw initial value and the output from the laboratory test. The final result, in terms of concentration, may be obtained multiplying the initial value (mg/L) to the respective percentage obtained after the treatment.

77

As concerns the numerical results, the ozone consumption increase was shown to demonstrate the US pretreatment efficiency towards a better dissolution of the gaseous phase in water. Moreover, using the Indigo colorimetric method a stable concentration of ozone in water was determined. The validation of the combined effect concerning the US and  $O_3$  process on WW was performed on:

- Solids (TSS): potential in the reduction of the suspended part. with particle size distribution shift from 10<sup>3</sup> nm to 1-10 nm;
- Organic matter (TOC, tCOD, sCOD, UV<sub>254</sub>): consistent with the solids result, the total COD was reduced but the shift in particles size generated an increase in the soluble COD concentration;
- Nutrients (TN, Ammonia, TP, K, Ca, Mg): a clear demonstration that the ozone treatment is suitable for effluent reuse, due to its propriety of maintaining the nutrient concentration inside the WW. Reduction percentages limited below 10% (TN, Ammonia, K) or 25% (TP);
- Microorganisms (E. coli, Enterococcus spp.): for ozone treatments longer than 60 s the common pathogenic concentration of an urban WWTP was almost completely removed (> 99,99%). Salmonella was absent in the plant influent;
- Micropollutants (Formaldehyde, Anionic surfactants): being well-known ozone DBPs, formaldehyde was assessed and verified to be highly removed. In the same way, sonozone is suitable for the removal of diffused urban WW pollutants, like anionic surfactants;
- Heavy metals: ICP analysis shown that the untreated and the best-treated samples had no differences in the HMs content. The ozone mineralization rate at the current concentrations was meaningless, however the initial HMs concentration was lower that the legislation thresholds.

Table 4-16 reports the sonozone removal capacity against the main characterization parameters for the 60 s treatment, single and combined. 60 s are reported as an example of a possible treatment time, where the enhanced efficiency of the sonozone process compared to the current initial conditions is maximized for shorter US durations and ozone applications, due to the higher removal percentages and the lower energy consumptions. The only  $O_3_60$  was used as the reference (0% of remotion) and the combined process values are calculated as percentual differences. Negative values represent an augment in the concentration compared the initial value.

	Table 4-16: Summary of the results obtained with $O_3_60$									
60 s ozone treatment time										
-	TSS	COD	TN	ТР	Formaldehyde	Anionic surfactants	E. Coli			
Raw	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%			
US 5 s	13%	3%	1%	30%	32%	0%	71%			
US 10 s	30%	-10%	1%	20%	30%	5%	97%			
US 30 s	49%	5%	1%	26%	65%	26%	99%			

In order to give a thorough overview, a basic energy balance  $(kWh/m^3)$  and economic evaluation  $(\notin/m^3)$  was conducted as well.

Considering that one of the most critical aspects of RWW agricultural reuse is the pathogenic infection, particularly when human contact is observed with the crop or the soil, an in-depth microbial interpretation was performed. The sonozone was tested, through several US and O<sub>3</sub> durations, towards 4 different microbial strains. The results, expressing once again an enhanced abatement of the combined process compared to the single ozone treatment, were technically and economically meaningful.

Moreover, the ecotoxicological assessment set an important result towards the targeted agricultural reuse. In-silico evaluations of ecotoxicity, persistence and solubility in water remarkably supported the disinfectant capacity of the sonozone.

Testing the hybrid process at a laboratory-scale gave rise to an interest towards the scaling-up of the reactor (from 1 L to 50 L). The PP reactor was built and connected with all the other components. The hydraulic controlled flow and the gas dissolution rate were assessed. Longer application times compared to the laboratory tests could be needed, however the final assessment of the PP will be performed in future applications.

Even though the exposed techno-economic assessment appeared to be relevant for the study, a significant aspect to be further investigated is the sustainability of the reuse and the social acceptance. Nowadays, the circular economy concept is one of the most crucial, the validation of the fertigation practice must consider it. Arising out of the case study, it was demonstrated that the RWW agricultural reuse may be suitable for water and nutrient reclamation, related to an economic, waste-reduction, water-saving and pollution control point of view. Citizens and stakeholders are not still aware about the fertigation potentialities; educational, cultural and political obstacles are slowing down the possible implementation in the everyday uses.

# 5 CONCLUSIONS

The final purpose of this study was the reuse of the nutrients contained inside the wastewater: ozone properties are well-known not to reduce the nitrogen-phosphate content, and this is the reason why this process was chosen. Ultrasounds could enhance the subsequent ozone disinfection efficiency; sonication used as a pre-treatment could increase the amounts of highly active ·OH radical formation, responsible for pollutant degradation. The nutrients and water recovery established a new circular economy approach contributing to the challenge of raw materials depletion. The reclaimed wastewater fertigation could provide a suitable substitute to a traditional irrigation practice, compensating for freshwater shortages in agriculture and reducing mineral fertilizers application, with significant environmental and economic benefits.

The combination of low-frequency ultrasound and ozonation tests was designed and performed for the primary effluent recovery for agricultural purposes. The evaluation of the hybrid technology demonstrated a remarkable removal efficiency towards the solid fraction and the organic matter. The microorganisms (fecal pathogens) and micropollutants (formaldehyde and anionic surfactants) treatment through the sonozone process highlighted a significant abatement, able to reduce their concentrations below the legislative thresholds. During the US-O<sub>3</sub> combined application, the nutrient load, measured as total nitrogen and total phosphate, was well-maintained. Consequently, a high potential value for the agricultural reuse of the treated primary effluent was highlighted, with possible significant saving of chemical fertilizers.

Ultrasounds and ozone are well-known high-energy consuming processes compared the classic WWTPs biological treatments. A basic economic evaluation demonstrated that the sonozone technique requires a huge amount of energy. However, it is possible to consider that the application of a sonozone disinfection may result in the unnecessity of a classic activated sludge process, as well as of a tertiary wastewater disinfection, avoiding high chemical cost and energy for additional treatments. Furthermore, a nutrient recovery means that the mineral fertilization for N and P plant nourishment is reduced. Industrial processes, for nutrient production, and freshwater costs are significantly decreased. Besides, the regions where the water availability is scarce have unavoidably a higher freshwater price. Originating from these considerations, the sonozone process appeared to be economically applicable, especially in decentralized areas not served by public sewers and wastewater treatment plants. A localized application has to be supported with a pilot campaign to gather more data. Remote and decentralized areas may become the ideal place for the sonozone

application when connected with the integration of solar energy, providing a sustainable way of producing its electric need.

The in-depth pathogen assessment was based on four different bacteria, after several distinct treatments. Singular and combined ultrasonic and ozone processes were tested to establish the reduction rates of *Salmonella Enteritidis*, *Escherichia coli*, *Enterococcus* spp. and *Pseudomonas* spp. Ultrasound alone resulted to be inadequate towards an efficient pathogen removal at our design conditions. The ozone employment resulted to fit for the hypothesized wastewater microbial removal, according to the desired reuse scheme. In particular, the observed removal rates after an ultrasonic pretreatment appeared to be constantly higher than the only ozone processes. Towards a comprehensive assessment of the hybrid process, an economic evaluation was conducted. The main conclusions arising from the data elaboration provide an overall satisfactory comeback. The comparisons between the energy consumptions revealed that, while operating through brief US pretreatment times, the sonozone resulted to be whichever a stronger treatment, economically convenient compared to the single ozonation. Notwithstanding an augment in the pathogen reduction rate, the employment of longer ultrasonic pretreatment times does not regularly correspond to a relevant money saving. Future experiments should be designed to the extent of testing even shorter pretreatment times and adopting a wider range of ozone subsequent dosages.

Several compounds were measured and used as an input for an in-silico ecotoxicological evaluation. Their behavior towards the sonozone oxidation was obtained as well. The results shown that some volatile aldehydes may be formed during the ozonation process, not being present in the raw mixture. The ecotoxicological tests on vertebrates, invertebrates and plants in addition to the soil and water persistence and water solubility, gave meaningful information regarding the duration needed for their removal and the toxicity level. However, the sonozone shown remarkable capacities in the removal of these resistant compounds. Further ecotoxicological assessment are required for an exhaustive estimation of the hazardous properties of the wastewater chemicals and the disinfection by-products.

From the laboratory tests it was concluded that low-frequency ultrasound pre-treatment, combined with ozonation, could be a useful process for primary effluent recovery for several purposes. The combined treatment showed a stable capacity of enhancing the ozone efficiency on the main wastewater compounds, maintaining the nutrients level. Further studies are expected to be planned and executed to evaluate system scale-up feasibility and the detailed effects of the most meaningful process parameters on final effluent toxicity. The dissolved ozone concentration was demonstrated

82

to be consistent with the laboratory scale value and stable inside the pilot plant reactor. Further tests have to be performed for the pilot-scale wastewater treatment assessment and, additionally, the pressure inside the reactor may be controlled and advantageously increased to obtain a better ozone dissolution inside the wastewater. As a future work, the data coming from a robust pilot-scale analysis may be employed for a model-based simulation, optimization and techno-economic feasibility of the overall process.

Moreover, a techno-economic methodology was presented to assess agricultural fertigation sustainability. Results from its application to a real case-study showed that significant mineral fertilizers savings could be achieved on selected crops, particularly soybean and vines, which could be easily supplied with most of the required N. Low effluent concentration and limited use efficiency of P reduced the overall economic benefit in this case. Wastewater treatment could be adjusted to lower P removal targets in the "fit-for-purpose" concept, providing more available P to crops; however, higher cost reductions were obtained from water savings, rather than mineral fertilizers. In addition, a follow-up of the fertigation techno-economic case study could be related to consider the monthly needs of the crops, instead of their annual balance, and their yield reduction due to salinity, including new relevant crops. The proposed methodology could be improved by adding sitespecific considerations concerning energy and GHG emissions of tailored fertigation strategies and evaluating changes in WWTP operations to provide the desired effluent quality. The methodology could be applied to any location, giving useful preliminary insight related to the feasibility of reclaimed wastewater fertigation schemes. Anyway, before the fertigation adoption, it is imperative to assess the correspondence between treated effluents availability and quality, not forgetting the irrigation demand. The presence/absence of suitable water distribution networks for effluents conveyance to the fields is also an important factor of choice, as well as the availability of appropriate water storage tanks to provide flexibility in fertigation planning. The collaboration between stakeholders, from water utilities to agricultural consortia and farmers, is a key point to achieve success. Punctual effluent monitoring and early warning on pollutants and pathogens could reduce the diffused skepticism that still undermines fertigation social acceptance. Compared to traditional fertilization, fertigation allows better nutrient use efficiency, improving plant uptake and nutrients availability in the root zone; however, long-term salinity and sodium monitoring is mandatory, due to high SAR levels in treated flows. Finally, risk management approaches, such as those proposed by EU Directive 2020/741, can allow early detection of other possible issues related to agronomic conditions. More importantly, wastewater fertigation should be evaluated under a circular economy perspective. Water discharge regulations do not always allow the complete fulfillment of crops nutrient requirements, needing high removal efficiency which may be in contrast with the full exploitation of wastewater-embedded resources and implying heavier energy and emissions footprint on WWTPs. A more flexible approach to effluents discharge could maximize fertigation impact without impairing environmental protection goals.

In conclusion, this combined sonozone treatment is an example of an innovative way of recovering wastewater and the meaningful compounds therein embedded, respecting the criteria defined by the circular economy perspective. From the considered legislative thresholds expressed for the non-edible crops, in order to maintain the nutrient concentrations below the given limits, a dilution of the treated primary effluent should be necessary in some cases.

# **6** LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

The current study is based on the work contained in the following papers, sort by date from oldest to newest:

- Mainardis, M., Cecconet, D., Moretti, A., Callegari, A., Goi, D., Freguia, S., & Capodaglio, A. G. (2022). Wastewater fertigation in agriculture: Issues and opportunities for improved water management and circular economy. Environmental Pollution, 296, 118755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118755
- 2. **Moretti, A.**, Zanolla, A., & Goi, D. Combined Ultrasound-Ozone treatment for reutilization of a primary effluent, *In progress*.
- 3. **Moretti, A.**, Gover, E., Goi, D., & Marino, M. Kinetic modeling and cost-effectiveness of Salmonella Enteritidis, Escherichia coli, Enterococcus spp., and Pseudomonas spp. inactivation in wastewater through Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs), *Submitted*.

The author made the following contributes:

- 1. Investigation; Result analysis; Writing the original draft; Visualization.
- 2. Conceptualization of the research; Methodology; Result analysis; Investigation; Data Curation; Writing the original draft; Visualization.
- 3. Conceptualization of the research; Methodology; Result analysis; Investigation; Data Curation; Writing the original draft; Visualization.

Publications not included in the thesis completed during the PhD:

- Campana, P. E., Mainardis, M., Moretti, A., & Cottes, M. (2021). 100% renewable wastewater treatment plants: Techno-economic assessment using a modelling and optimization approach. Energy Conversion and Management, 239, 114214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2021.114214
- Mainardis, M., Buttazzoni, M., Cottes, M., Moretti, A., & Goi, D. (2021). Respirometry tests in wastewater treatment: Why and how? A critical review. Science of the Total Environment, 793, 148607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148607

# **7** REFERENCES

- [1] A. S. M. Raja, A. Arputharaj, S. Saxena, and P. G. Patil, *Water requirement and sustainability of textile processing industries*. Elsevier Ltd., 2019.
- [2] G. B. Simpson and G. P. W. Jewitt, "The development of the water-energy-food nexus as a framework for achieving resource security: A review," *Front. Environ. Sci.*, vol. 7, no. FEB, pp. 1–9, 2019, doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2019.00008.
- [3] A. Guterres, "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020," *United Nations Publ. issued by Dep. Econ. Soc. Aff.*, pp. 1–64, 2020.
- [4] U. Nations, *The United Nations World Water Development Report 2015: Water for a Sustainable World*, vol. 4, no. 2. 2016.
- [5] U. Nations, WATER. 2016.
- [6] N. Dilekli and I. Cazcarro, "Testing the SDG targets on water and sanitation using the world trade model with a waste, wastewater, and recycling framework," *Ecol. Econ.*, vol. 165, no. February, p. 106376, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.106376.
- [7] G. Mancuso, A. Toscano, and F. Sciences, "Reclaimed water to face agricultural water scarcity in the Mediterranean area: Anoverview using SDG preliminary data," Adv. Chem. Pollution, Environ. Manag. Prot., vol. 5, pp. 113–143, 2020.
- [8] N. Khan, "Natural Ecological Remediation and Reuse of Sewage Water in Agriculture and Its Effects on Plant Health," *Sewage*, no. July, 2018, doi: 10.5772/intechopen.75455.
- [9] M. F. Jaramillo and I. Restrepo, "Wastewater reuse in agriculture: A review about its limitations and benefits," *Sustain.*, vol. 9, no. 10, 2017, doi: 10.3390/su9101734.
- H. Lim, W. Kim, and J. Jung, "Integrated Water Cycle Management System for Smart Cities," *Proc. - 2018 2nd Int. Conf. Green Energy Appl. ICGEA 2018*, pp. 55–58, 2018, doi: 10.1109/ICGEA.2018.8356311.
- [11] T. R. Weber and N. J. Ramilo, "Integrated water cycle management Dealing with dilemmas," WSUD 2012 - 7th Int. Conf. Water Sensitive Urban Des. Build. Water Sensitive Community, Final Progr. Abstr. B., no. February 2012, 2012.
- [12] K. Eberhard, R., Thorburn, P., Rolfe, J., Taylor, B., Ronan, M., Weber, T., Flint, N., Kroon, F., Brodie, J., Waterhouse, J., Silburn, M., Bartley, R., Davis, A., Wilkinson, S., Lewis, S., Star, M., Poggio, M., Windle, J., Marshall, N., Hill, R., Maclean, K., "Scientific Consensus Statement 2017: A synthesis of the science of land-based water quality impacts on the Great Barrier Reef, Chapter 4: Management options and their effectiveness," *State Queensl.*, no. September, p. 166, 2017, doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.33398.91208.
- [13] V. Bakos, P. Szombathy, J. Simon, and A. Jobbágy, "Implementing cost-effective cotreatment of domestic and food-industrial wastewater by novel methods for estimating industrial load," *Period. Polytech. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 505–513, 2020, doi: 10.3311/PPch.15306.
- [14] Q. Chen, Q. Wang, H. Yan, C. Chen, J. Ma, and Q. Xu, "Improve the performance of full-scale continuous treatment of municipal wastewater by combining a numerical model and online

sensors," Water Sci. Technol., vol. 78, no. 8, pp. 1658–1667, 2018, doi: 10.2166/wst.2018.442.

- [15] M. J. Pawari and S. M. Gavande, "Assessment of Water Quality Parameters : A Review," Int. J. Sci. Res., vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 1427–1431, 2015.
- [16] M. Henze, M. C.M., V. Loosdrecht, G. A. Ekama, and Damir Brdjanovic, *Wastewater Treatment Development*, no. August. 2008.
- Y. Li, B. Wu, C. He, F. Nie, and Q. Shi, "Comprehensive chemical characterization of dissolved organic matter in typical point-source refinery wastewaters," *Chemosphere*, vol. 286, no. P1, p. 131617, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131617.
- [18] L. Zanetti, N. Frison, E. Nota, M. Tomizioli, D. Bolzonella, and F. Fatone, "Progress in realtime control applied to biological nitrogen removal from wastewater. A short-review," *Desalination*, vol. 286, pp. 1–7, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.desal.2011.11.056.
- [19] C. Boutin, C. Eme, C. Boutin, C. E. Domestic, and W. Characterization, "Domestic Wastewater Characterization by Emission Source To cite this version : HAL Id : hal-01469077 Domestic Wastewater Characterization by Emission Source," *Domest. Wastewater Charact.*, pp. 3–4, 2017.
- [20] N. A. Jasim, "The design for wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) with GPS X modelling," Cogent Eng., vol. 7, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.1080/23311916.2020.1723782.
- [21] Mackenzie L. Davis, WATER AND WASTEWATER ENGINEERING Design Principles and Practice. 2010.
- [22] K. V. Gernaey, M. C. M. Van Loosdrecht, M. Henze, M. Lind, and S. B. Jørgensen, "Activated sludge wastewater treatment plant modelling and simulation: State of the art," *Environ. Model. Softw.*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 763–783, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2003.03.005.
- [23] M. Pei *et al.*, "State of the art of tertiary treatment technologies for controlling antibiotic resistance in wastewater treatment plants," *Environ. Int.*, vol. 131, no. July, p. 105026, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.105026.
- [24] E. Walling and C. Vaneeckhaute, "Greenhouse gas emissions from inorganic and organic fertilizer production and use: A review of emission factors and their variability," J. Environ. Manage., vol. 276, no. August, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111211.
- J. Martínez-Dalmau, J. Berbel, and R. Ordóñez-Fernández, "Nitrogen fertilization. A review of the risks associated with the inefficiency of its use and policy responses," *Sustain.*, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 1–15, 2021, doi: 10.3390/su13105625.
- [26] C. O. Dimkpa, J. Fugice, U. Singh, and T. D. Lewis, "Development of fertilizers for enhanced nitrogen use efficiency – Trends and perspectives," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 731, p. 139113, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139113.
- [27] S. Daneshgar, A. Callegari, A. G. Capodaglio, and D. Vaccari, "The potential phosphorus crisis: Resource conservation and possible escape technologies: A review," *Resources*, vol. 7, no. 2, 2018, doi: 10.3390/resources7020037.
- [28] P. Krzeminski *et al.*, "Performance of secondary wastewater treatment methods for the removal of contaminants of emerging concern implicated in crop uptake and antibiotic resistance spread: A review," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 648, pp. 1052–1081, 2019, doi:

10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.130.

- [29] F. Volpin *et al.*, "Simultaneous phosphorous and nitrogen recovery from source-separated urine: A novel application for fertiliser drawn forward osmosis," *Chemosphere*, vol. 203, pp. 482–489, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.193.
- [30] S. Daneshgar, A. Buttafava, A. Callegari, and A. G. Capodaglio, "Economic and energetic assessment of different phosphorus recovery options from aerobic sludge," J. Clean. Prod., vol. 223, pp. 729–738, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.195.
- [31] M. A. de Boer, M. Hammerton, and J. C. Slootweg, "Uptake of pharmaceuticals by sorbentamended struvite fertilisers recovered from human urine and their bioaccumulation in tomato fruit," *Water Res.*, vol. 133, pp. 19–26, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2018.01.017.
- [32] K. Chojnacka, A. Witek-Krowiak, K. Moustakas, D. Skrzypczak, K. Mikula, and M. Loizidou, "A transition from conventional irrigation to fertigation with reclaimed wastewater: Prospects and challenges," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 130, p. 109959, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.109959.
- [33] S. T. Magwaza, L. S. Magwaza, A. O. Odindo, and A. Mditshwa, "Hydroponic technology as decentralised system for domestic wastewater treatment and vegetable production in urban agriculture: A review," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 698, p. 134154, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134154.
- [34] Ministro dell'Ambiente e della Tutela del Territorio e del Mare, "DECRETO 12 giugno 2003, n.185 Regolamento recante norme tecniche per il riutilizzo delle acque reflue in attuazione dell'articolo 26, comma 2, del decreto legislativo 11 maggio 1999, n. 152.," *Gazz. Uff.*, no. 169, pp. 1–15, 2003.
- [35] A. P. Coelho, M. F. da Silva, R. T. de Faria, C. Fernandes, G. de F. Dantas, and G. O. Santos, "Long-term impact of fertigation with treated sewage effluent on the physical soil quality," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 266, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115007.
- [36] S. Mansilla *et al.*, "Compounds of emerging concern as new plant stressors linked to water reuse and biosolid application in agriculture," *J. Environ. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 9, no. 3, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2021.105198.
- [37] G. Olsson and B. Newell, *Wastewater Treatment Systems: modelling, diagnosis and control.* 1999.
- [38] J. Wang and S. Wang, "Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) from wastewater: A review," J. Environ. Manage., vol. 182, pp. 620–640, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.07.049.
- [39] Z. Liu, K. Demeestere, and S. Van Hulle, "Comparison and performance assessment of ozone-based AOPs in view of trace organic contaminants abatement in water and wastewater: A review," J. Environ. Chem. Eng., vol. 9, no. 4, p. 105599, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2021.105599.
- [40] I. Oller, S. Malato, and J. A. Sánchez-Pérez, "Combination of Advanced Oxidation Processes and biological treatments for wastewater decontamination-A review," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 409, no. 20, pp. 4141–4166, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.08.061.
- [41] A. B. Rostam and M. Taghizadeh, "Advanced oxidation processes integrated by membrane

reactors and bioreactors for various wastewater treatments: A critical review," J. Environ. Chem. Eng., vol. 8, no. 6, p. 104566, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2020.104566.

- [42] M. Trojanowicz, A. Bojanowska-Czajka, and A. G. Capodaglio, "Can radiation chemistry supply a highly efficient AO(R)P process for organics removal from drinking and waste water? A review," *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*, vol. 24, no. 25, pp. 20187–20208, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s11356-017-9836-1.
- [43] H. Hori *et al.*, "Decomposition of environmentally persistent perfluorooctanoic acid in water by photochemical approaches," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 38, no. 22, pp. 6118–6124, 2004, doi: 10.1021/es049719n.
- [44] D. S. de Souza, A. M. Maciel, M. H. Otenio, and H. V. de Mendonça, "Optimization of Ozone Application in Post-Treatment of Cattle Wastewater from Organic Farms," *Water. Air. Soil Pollut.*, vol. 231, no. 7, pp. 1–10, 2020, doi: 10.1007/s11270-020-04736-2.
- [45] A. H. Mahvi, "Application of ultrasonic technology for water and wastewater treatment," *Iran. J. Public Health*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 1–17, 2009.
- [46] H. Xia *et al.*, "A review of microwave-assisted advanced oxidation processes for wastewater treatment," *Chemosphere*, vol. 287, no. P2, p. 131981, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131981.
- [47] A. C. Chevremont, J. L. Boudenne, B. Coulomb, and A. M. Farnet, "Impact of watering with UV-LED-treated wastewater on microbial and physico-chemical parameters of soil," *Water Res.*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1971–1982, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2013.01.006.
- [48] Y. Aguas, M. Hincapie, P. Fernández-Ibáñez, and M. I. Polo-López, "Solar photocatalytic disinfection of agricultural pathogenic fungi (Curvularia sp.) in real urban wastewater," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 607–608, pp. 1213–1224, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.085.
- [49] R. B. Phillips, R. R. James, and M. L. Magnuson, "Functional categories of microbial toxicity resulting from three advanced oxidation process treatments during management and disposal of contaminated water," *Chemosphere*, vol. 238, p. 124550, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124550.
- [50] S. Hussain, E. Aneggi, and D. Goi, "Catalytic activity of metals in heterogeneous Fenton-like oxidation of wastewater contaminants: a review," *Environ. Chem. Lett.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 2405–2424, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s10311-021-01185-z.
- [51] M. Mainardis, M. Buttazzoni, N. De Bortoli, M. Mion, and D. Goi, "Evaluation of ozonation applicability to pulp and paper streams for a sustainable wastewater treatment," *J. Clean. Prod.*, vol. 258, p. 120781, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120781.
- [52] G. Rossi, M. Mainardis, E. Aneggi, L. K. Weavers, and D. Goi, "Combined ultrasound-ozone treatment for reutilization of primary effluent—a preliminary study," *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 700–710, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s11356-020-10467-y.
- [53] M. Vázquez-López, L. E. Amabilis-Sosa, G. E. Moeller-Chávez, A. Roé-Sosa, P. Neumann, and G. Vidal, "Evaluation of the ultrasound effect on treated municipal wastewater," *Environ. Technol. (United Kingdom)*, vol. 40, no. 27, pp. 3568–3577, 2019, doi: 10.1080/09593330.2018.1481889.
- [54] Y. L. Pang, A. Z. Abdullah, and S. Bhatia, "Review on sonochemical methods in the presence

of catalysts and chemical additives for treatment of organic pollutants in wastewater," *Desalination*, vol. 277, no. 1–3, pp. 1–14, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.desal.2011.04.049.

- [55] D. B. Miklos, C. Remy, M. Jekel, K. G. Linden, J. E. Drewes, and U. Hübner, "Evaluation of advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment – A critical review," *Water Res.*, vol. 139, pp. 118–131, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2018.03.042.
- [56] J. A. Malvestiti, E. Fagnani, D. Simão, and R. F. Dantas, "Optimization of UV/H2O2 and ozone wastewater treatment by the experimental design methodology," *Environ. Technol. (United Kingdom)*, vol. 40, no. 15, pp. 1910–1922, 2019, doi: 10.1080/09593330.2018.1432698.
- [57] T. Jäger *et al.*, "Live-dead discrimination analysis, qPCR assessment for opportunistic pathogens, and population analysis at ozone wastewater treatment plants," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 232, pp. 571–579, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2017.09.089.
- [58] C. von Sonntag and U. von Gunten, *Chemistry of Ozone in Water and Wastewater Treatment: From Basic Principles to Applications*. 2015.
- [59] V. Yargeau and F. Danylo, "Removal and transformation products of ibuprofen obtained during ozone- and ultrasound-based oxidative treatment," *Water Sci. Technol.*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 491–500, 2015, doi: 10.2166/wst.2015.234.
- [60] P. Alfonso-Muniozguren *et al.*, "Tertiary treatment of real abattoir wastewater using combined acoustic cavitation and ozonation," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 64, no. January, p. 104986, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2020.104986.
- [61] W. Q. Guo *et al.*, "Sulfamethoxazole degradation by ultrasound/ozone oxidation process in water: Kinetics, mechanisms, and pathways," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 22, pp. 182–187, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2014.07.008.
- [62] P. Bird, "The urban waste water treatment directive," *Inst. Water Off. J.*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 14–15, 1992.
- [63] F. Brissaud, "Criteria for water recycling and reuse in the Mediterranean countries," *Desalination*, vol. 218, no. 1–3, pp. 24–33, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.desal.2006.07.016.
- [64] The European Parliament and the Council, "Regulation (EU) 2020/741, Minimum requirements for water reuse," Off. J. Eur. Union, vol. 177/33, no. May 2020, pp. 32–55, 2020.
- [65] M. Mainardis *et al.*, "Wastewater fertigation in agriculture: Issues and opportunities for improved water management and circular economy," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 296, no. December 2021, p. 118755, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118755.
- [66] APHA, "APHA Method 4500-CL: Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater," vol. 552, 1992.
- [67] M. H. Simonian and J. A. Smith, "Spectrophotometric and colorimetric determination of protein concentration.," *Curr. Protoc. Mol. Biol.*, vol. Chapter 10, 2006, doi: 10.1002/0471142727.mb1001as76.
- [68] O. Pourali, F. S. Asghari, and H. Yoshida, "Sub-critical water treatment of rice bran to produce valuable materials," *Food Chem.*, vol. 115, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.11.099.

- [69] B. Herigstad, M. Hamilton, and J. Heersink, "How to optimize the drop plate method for enumerating bacteria," J. Microbiol. Methods, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 121–129, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0167-7012(00)00241-4.
- [70] S. Babić, D. Ašperger, D. Mutavdžić, A. J. M. Horvat, and M. Kaštelan-Macan, "Solid phase extraction and HPLC determination of veterinary pharmaceuticals in wastewater," *Talanta*, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 732–738, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2006.07.003.
- S. C. Mashiane M, "Quantification of Selected Antiretroviral Drugs in a Wastewater Treatment Works in South Africa Using GC-TOFMS," J. Chromatogr. Sep. Tech., vol. 06, no. 04, 2015, doi: 10.4172/2157-7064.1000272.
- [72] O. T. Yayintas, S. Yılmaz, M. Turkoglu, and Y. Dilgin, "Determination of heavy metal pollution with environmental physicochemical parameters in waste water of Kocabas Stream (Biga, Canakkale, Turkey) by ICP-AES," *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, vol. 127, no. 1–3, pp. 389–397, 2007, doi: 10.1007/s10661-006-9288-4.
- [73] R. Triandi Tjahjanto, D. Galuh R., and S. Wardhani, "Ozone Determination: A Comparison of Quantitative Analysis Methods," J. Pure Appl. Chem. Res., vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 18–25, 2012, doi: 10.21776/ub.jpacr.2012.001.01.103.
- [74] APHA, "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater," p. 1496, 2012.
- [75] A. H. Geeraerd, V. P. Valdramidis, and J. F. Van Impe, "GInaFiT, a freeware tool to assess non-log-linear microbial survivor curves," *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, vol. 102, no. 1, pp. 95–105, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.11.038.
- [76] AEEG, "Relazione Annuale Sullo Stato Dei Servizi E Sull'Attività Svolta," Prezzi Final. dell'energia Elettr. per i Consum. Ind. nel 2014 Prezzi al Net. e al lordo delle Impos. c€/kWhPrezzi al Net. e al lordo delle Impos. c€/kWh, p. 24, 2015.
- [77] M. G. Lionetto, R. Caricato, A. Calisi, M. E. Giordano, E. Erroi, and T. Schettino, "Biomonitoring of water and soil quality: a case study of ecotoxicological methodology application to the assessment of reclaimed agroindustrial wastewaters used for irrigation," *Rend. Lincei*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 105–112, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s12210-015-0486-2.
- [78] N. Ungureanu, V. Vlăduț, and G. Voicu, "Water scarcity and wastewater reuse in crop irrigation," *Sustain.*, vol. 12, no. 21, pp. 1–19, 2020, doi: 10.3390/su12219055.
- [79] R. Hajare, P. Labhasetwar, and P. Nagarnaik, "Evaluation of pathogen risks using QMRA to explore wastewater reuse options: A case study from New Delhi in India," *Water Sci. Technol.*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 543–555, 2021, doi: 10.2166/wst.2020.583.
- [80] A. Golbamaki, A. Cassano, A. Lombardo, Y. Moggio, M. Colafranceschi, and E. Benfenati, "Comparison of in silico models for prediction of Daphnia magna acute toxicity," SAR QSAR Environ. Res., vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 673–694, 2014, doi: 10.1080/1062936X.2014.923041.
- [81] E. Teixidó, D. Leuthold, N. de Crozé, M. Léonard, and S. Scholz, "Comparative Assessment of the Sensitivity of Fish Early-Life Stage, Daphnia, and Algae Tests to the Chronic Ecotoxicity of Xenobiotics: Perspectives for Alternatives to Animal Testing," *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 30–41, 2020, doi: 10.1002/etc.4607.
- [82] H. Ali, E. Khan, and I. Ilahi, "Environmental chemistry and ecotoxicology of hazardous heavy metals: Environmental persistence, toxicity, and bioaccumulation," *J. Chem.*, vol. 2019, no.

Cd, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/6730305.

- [83] I. C. Yadav et al., "Current status of persistent organic pesticides residues in air, water, and soil, and their possible effect on neighboring countries: A comprehensive review of India," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 511, pp. 123–137, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.041.
- [84] N. R. Haddaway and J. T. A. Verhoeven, "Poor methodological detail precludes experimental repeatability and hampers synthesis in ecology," *Ecol. Evol.*, vol. 5, no. 19, pp. 4451–4454, 2015, doi: 10.1002/ece3.1722.
- [85] M. B. Ahmed, J. L. Zhou, H. H. Ngo, W. Guo, N. S. Thomaidis, and J. Xu, "Progress in the biological and chemical treatment technologies for emerging contaminant removal from wastewater: A critical review," *J. Hazard. Mater.*, vol. 323, pp. 274–298, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.045.
- [86] M. Marino, M. Maifreni, A. Baggio, and N. Innocente, "Inactivation of foodborne bacteria biofilms by aqueous and gaseous ozone," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, no. AUG, pp. 1–12, 2018, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02024.
- [87] S. S. Cipolla and M. Maglionico, "Heat recovery from urban wastewater: Analysis of the variability of flow rate and temperature in the sewer of Bologna, Italy," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 45, pp. 288–297, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2014.01.031.
- [88] S. N. Malik, P. C. Ghosh, A. N. Vaidya, and S. N. Mudliar, "Hybrid ozonation process for industrial wastewater treatment: Principles and applications: A review," J. Water Process Eng., vol. 35, no. October 2018, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101193.
- [89] K. M. S. Hansen, A. Spiliotopoulou, R. K. Chhetri, M. Escolà Casas, K. Bester, and H. R. Andersen, "Ozonation for source treatment of pharmaceuticals in hospital wastewater -Ozone lifetime and required ozone dose," *Chem. Eng. J.*, vol. 290, pp. 507–514, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.cej.2016.01.027.
- [90] C. V. Rekhate and J. K. Srivastava, "Recent advances in ozone-based advanced oxidation processes for treatment of wastewater- A review," *Chem. Eng. J. Adv.*, vol. 3, no. June, p. 100031, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ceja.2020.100031.
- [91] A. M. Al-Hashimi, T. J. Mason, and E. M. Joyce, "Combined Effect of Ultrasound and Ozone on Bacteria in Water," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 49, no. 19, pp. 11697–11702, 2015, doi: 10.1021/es5045437.
- [92] X. Chen *et al.*, "Effect of ultrasonic and ozone pretreatment on the fate of enteric indicator bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes, and anaerobic digestion of dairy wastewater," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 320, no. PA, p. 124356, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2020.124356.
- [93] F. Ribas, J. Perramon, A. Terradillos, J. Frias, and F. Lucena, "The Pseudomonas group as an indicator of potential regrowth in water distribution systems," J. Appl. Microbiol., vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 704–710, 2000, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.01021.x.
- [94] C. Levantesi, L. Bonadonna, R. Briancesco, E. Grohmann, S. Toze, and V. Tandoi, "Salmonella in surface and drinking water: Occurrence and water-mediated transmission," *Food Res. Int.*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 587–602, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2011.06.037.
- [95] S. B. Martínez, J. Pérez-Parra, and R. Suay, "Use of Ozone in Wastewater Treatment to Produce Water Suitable for Irrigation," *Water Resour. Manag.*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 2109–

2124, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s11269-011-9798-x.

- [96] M. Simonetti, G. Rossi, V. Cabbai, and D. Goi, "Tests on the effect of ultrasonic treatment on two different activated sludge waste," *Environ. Prot. Eng.*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 23–34, 2014, doi: 10.5277/epe140102.
- [97] D. Dubber and N. F. Gray, "Replacement of chemical oxygen demand (COD) with total organic carbon (TOC) for monitoring wastewater treatment performance to minimize disposal of toxic analytical waste," J. Environ. Sci. Heal. - Part A Toxic/Hazardous Subst. Environ. Eng., vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 1595–1600, 2010, doi: 10.1080/10934529.2010.506116.
- [98] R. Lamsal, M. E. Walsh, and G. A. Gagnon, "Comparison of advanced oxidation processes for the removal of natural organic matter," *Water Res.*, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 3263–3269, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2011.03.038.
- [99] T. Garoma and D. Pappaterra, "An investigation of ultrasound effect on digestate solubilization and methane yield," *Waste Manag.*, vol. 71, pp. 728–733, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.wasman.2017.03.021.
- [100] A. Papageorgiou, S. K. Stylianou, P. Kaffes, A. I. Zouboulis, and D. Voutsa, "Effects of ozonation pretreatment on natural organic matter and wastewater derived organic matter Possible implications on the formation of ozonation by-products," *Chemosphere*, vol. 170, pp. 33–40, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.12.005.
- [101] S. Rebello, A. K. Asok, S. Mundayoor, and M. S. Jisha, "Surfactants: Toxicity, remediation and green surfactants," *Environ. Chem. Lett.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 275–287, 2014, doi: 10.1007/s10311-014-0466-2.
- [102] A. Arslan, E. Topkaya, D. Bingöl, and S. Veli, "Removal of anionic surfactant sodium dodecyl sulfate from aqueous solutions by O3/UV/H2O2 advanced oxidation process: Process optimization with response surface methodology approach," *Sustain. Environ. Res.*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 65–71, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.serj.2017.11.002.
- [103] P. E. Campana, M. Mainardis, A. Moretti, and M. Cottes, "100% renewable wastewater treatment plants: Techno-economic assessment using a modelling and optimization approach," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 239, p. 114214, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2021.114214.
- [104] M. Mainardis *et al.*, "Life cycle assessment of sewage sludge pretreatment for biogas production: From laboratory tests to full-scale applicability," *J. Clean. Prod.*, vol. 322, no. May, p. 129056, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129056.
- [105] P. Sathishkumar, R. V. Mangalaraja, and S. Anandan, "Review on the recent improvements in sonochemical and combined sonochemical oxidation processes - A powerful tool for destruction of environmental contaminants," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 55, pp. 426– 454, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.10.139.
- [106] N. N. Mahamuni and Y. G. Adewuyi, "Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) involving ultrasound for waste water treatment: A review with emphasis on cost estimation," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 990–1003, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2009.09.005.
- [107] S. Anandan, V. Kumar Ponnusamy, and M. Ashokkumar, "A review on hybrid techniques for the degradation of organic pollutants in aqueous environment," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol.

67, no. February, p. 105130, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2020.105130.

- [108] N. Tharanga, C. Randall, N. Art, M. Henze, and Y. Comeau, "3 Wastewater Characterization Mogens Henze and Yves Comeau 3 . 1 Wastewater Characterization," 2008.
- [109] S. Drakopoulou, S. Terzakis, M. S. Fountoulakis, D. Mantzavinos, and T. Manios, "Ultrasound-induced inactivation of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria in secondary treated municipal wastewater," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 629–634, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2008.11.011.
- [110] T. Blume and U. Neis, "Improved wastewater disinfection by ultrasonic pre-treatment," Ultrason. Sonochem., vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 333–336, 2004, doi: 10.1016/S1350-4177(03)00156-1.
- [111] S. Gao, G. D. Lewis, M. Ashokkumar, and Y. Hemar, "Inactivation of microorganisms by lowfrequency high-power ultrasound: 1. Effect of growth phase and capsule properties of the bacteria," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 446–453, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2013.06.006.
- [112] J. Alexander, G. Knopp, A. Dötsch, A. Wieland, and T. Schwartz, "Ozone treatment of conditioned wastewater selects antibiotic resistance genes, opportunistic bacteria, and induce strong population shifts," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 559, pp. 103–112, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.154.
- [113] A. Hartke, J. C. Giard, J. M. Laplace, and Y. Auffray, "Survival of Enterococcus faecalis in an oligotrophic microcosm: Changes in morphology, development of general stress resistance, and analysis of protein synthesis," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 4238–4245, 1998, doi: 10.1128/aem.64.11.4238-4245.1998.
- [114] J. Li, D. Liu, and T. Ding, "Transcriptomic analysis reveal differential gene expressions of Escherichia coli O157:H7 under ultrasonic stress," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 71, p. 105418, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2020.105418.
- [115] C. P. Devatha and N. Pavithra, "Isolation and identification of Pseudomonas from wastewater, its immobilization in cellulose biopolymer and performance in degrading Triclosan," J. Environ. Manage., vol. 232, no. November 2018, pp. 584–591, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.11.083.
- [116] M. F. Murphy, T. Edwards, G. Hobbs, J. Shepherd, and F. Bezombes, "Acoustic vibration can enhance bacterial biofilm formation," *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, vol. 122, no. 6, pp. 765–770, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2016.05.010.
- [117] J. S. Chapman, R. Ferguson, C. Consalo, and T. Bliss, "Bacteriostatic effect of sequential hydrodynamic and ultrasound-induced stress," J. Appl. Microbiol., vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 947– 955, 2013, doi: 10.1111/jam.12146.
- [118] Z. Siddique, A. U. Malik, M. R. Asi, R. Anwar, and M. Inam Ur Raheem, "Sonolytic-ozonation technology for sanitizing microbial contaminants and pesticide residues from spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) leaves, at household level," *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*, vol. 28, no. 38, pp. 52913–52924, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s11356-021-14203-y.
- [119] Y. Sun, Z. Wu, Y. Zhang, and J. Wang, "Use of aqueous ozone rinsing to improve the disinfection efficacy and shorten the processing time of ultrasound-assisted washing of fresh produce," Ultrason. Sonochem., vol. 83, no. December 2021, p. 105931, 2022, doi:

10.1016/j.ultsonch.2022.105931.

- [120] M. B. Traore *et al.*, "Assessing the impact of the combined application of ultrasound and ozone on microbial quality and bioactive compounds with antioxidant attributes of cabbage (Brassica Oleracea L. Var. Capitata)," *J. Food Process. Preserv.*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1–11, 2020, doi: 10.1111/jfpp.14779.
- [121] B. P. Chaplin, "Critical review of electrochemical advanced oxidation processes for water treatment applications," *Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 1182–1203, 2014, doi: 10.1039/c3em00679d.
- [122] A. Tokos, C. Bartha, D. D. Micu, M. Jipa, I. Nascu, and I. Lingvay, "Energy Consumption in Wastewater Treatment Plants," *Proc. 2021 9th Int. Conf. Mod. Power Syst. MPS 2021*, no. May 2012, 2021, doi: 10.1109/MPS52805.2021.9492616.
- [123] E. Commission, "Closing the Loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy (ANNEX 1)," Commun. from Comm. to Eur. Parliam. Counc. Eur. Econ. Soc. Comm. Comm. Reg., pp. 1–5, 2015, [Online]. Available: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:8a8ef5e8-99a0-11e5-b3b7-01aa75ed71a1.0012.02/DOC\_2&format=PDF.
- [124] C. Casiano Flores, H. Bressers, C. Gutierrez, and C. de Boer, "Towards circular economy a wastewater treatment perspective, the Presa Guadalupe case," *Manag. Res. Rev.*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 554–571, 2018, doi: 10.1108/MRR-02-2018-0056.
- [125] United Nations, "TRANSFORMING OUR WORLD: THE 2030 AGENDA FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT," 2015. doi: 10.1201/b20466-7.
- [126] O. F. T. H. E. Council, "Directive 2008/122/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council," *Fundam. Texts Eur. Priv. Law*, pp. 3–30, 2020, doi: 10.5040/9781782258674.0028.
- [127] M. Smol, C. Adam, and M. Preisner, "Circular economy model framework in the European water and wastewater sector," J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 682–697, 2020, doi: 10.1007/s10163-019-00960-z.
- [128] G. O. B. Bertilsson and H. Kirchmann, "Sustainable N fertilizer production based on a loop: Straw - biogas – 'Haber-Bosch' process," *Agric. Syst.*, vol. 190, no. July 2020, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2021.103100.
- [129] S. Trajkovic and S. Kolakovic, "Wind-adjusted Turc equation for estimating reference evapotranspiration at humid European locations," *Hydrol. Res.*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 45–52, 2009, doi: 10.2166/nh.2009.002.
- [130] "TNAU agritech portal," 2023. https://agritech.tnau.ac.in/agriculture/agri\_nutrientmgt\_fertigation.html (accessed Jan. 26, 2023).
- [131] "ARPA FVG," 2023. https://www.osmer.fvg.it/home.php (accessed Jan. 26, 2023).
- [132] M. Arienzo, E. W. Christen, W. Quayle, and A. Kumar, "A review of the fate of potassium in the soil-plant system after land application of wastewaters," J. Hazard. Mater., vol. 164, no. 2–3, pp. 415–422, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.08.095.
- [133] clal.it, "Italyan prices of mineral fertilizers," 2023. https://www.clal.it/en/?section=concimi (accessed Jan. 26, 2023).

- [134] C. di bonifica delle Marche, "Piano di riparto della spesa irrigua," 2018.
- [135] S. H. Ewaid, S. A. Abed, and N. Al Ansari, "Crop Water Requirements and Irrigation Schedulesfor Some Major Crops in Southern Iraq," Water, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1–12, 2019.
- [136] T. Olowoboko, O. Onasanya, O. Salami, and J. Azeez, "Growth and Uptake in Maize as Influenced by NPK Fertilizer in Green House Experiment," *Int. J. Plant Soil Sci.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 1–10, 2017, doi: 10.9734/ijpss/2017/34399.
- [137] M. A. Kamal *et al.*, "Effect of NPK application at various levels on yield and quality of two rice hybrids," *Sci. J. Seoul Sci.*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 14–19, 2016.
- [138] Ohio State University, "Growing Grapes in the Home Fruit Planting," 2023. https://ohioline.osu.edu/factsheet/hyg-1423.
- [139] A. Pistocchi *et al.*, *The potential of water reuse for agricultural irrigation in the EU a hydroeconomic analysis.*, no. October 2019. 2018.
- [140] M. Michetti, M. Raggi, E. Guerra, and D. Viaggi, "Interpreting farmers' perceptions of risks and benefits concerning waste water reuse for irrigation: A case study in Emilia-Romagna (Italy)," Water (Switzerland), vol. 11, no. 1, 2019, doi: 10.3390/w11010108.
- [141] D. C. Faria and L. P. Naval, "Wastewater reuse: Perception and social acceptance," *Water Environ. J.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 433–447, 2022, doi: 10.1111/wej.12776.
- [142] M. A. Massoud, M. Terkawi, and R. Nakkash, "Water reuse as an incentive to promote sustainable agriculture in Lebanon: Stakeholders' perspectives," *Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 412–421, 2019, doi: 10.1002/ieam.4131.
- [143] M. E. Gerdes, M. R. Suri, and R. E. Rosenberg Goldstein, "Traditional approaches for educating farmers about nontraditional water: Evaluating preferred outreach, education, and methods for alleviating concerns," *J. Environ. Manage.*, vol. 275, no. May, p. 111265, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111265.
- [144] Q. Yang, Y. Zhu, and J. Wang, "Adoption of drip fertigation system and technical efficiency of cherry tomato farmers in Southern China," J. Clean. Prod., vol. 275, p. 123980, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123980.
- [145] C. Ravishankar, S. Nautiyal, and M. Seshaiah, "Social acceptance for reclaimed water use: A case study in Bengaluru," *Recycling*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2018, doi: 10.3390/recycling3010004.
- [146] M. Helmecke, E. Fries, and C. Schulte, "Regulating water reuse for agricultural irrigation: risks related to organic micro-contaminants," *Environ. Sci. Eur.*, vol. 32, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.1186/s12302-019-0283-0.